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ARA

Cambridgeshire
County Council

KEY NUMBERS
Some of the key numbers for the reader to note are that:
2020-21
£m
Revenue
Expenditure 1,068.5
Income * -1,083.7
Net -15.2
Capital
Expenditure 176.8
Financing -176.8
Net 0.0
Total reserves ** 357.7

2021-22
£fm

1,086.8
-1,114.5
-27.7

166.2
-166.2
0.0

613.8

Note

Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature (page 60)
Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature (page 60)

Narrative Report (pages 15 - 17)
Narrative Report (pages 15 —17)

Movement in Reserves Statement (page 43)

* total income less £90.9m capital grants and contributions (previous year £86.0m)
** includes usable reserves of £246.7m at 31 March 2022 (previous year £215.5m)
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NARRATIVE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

This document presents the statutory financial statements for Cambridgeshire County Council (the Council) for the period 1 April 2021 to 31
March 2022 and provides a comprehensive summary of the overall financial position of the Council giving a true and fair view.

The accounts are presented in the format recommended by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), as set out in the
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021-22 (the Code). Our core financial statements use this format and meet

the conditions of the Code.

This narrative statement provides a summary of the most significant matters reported within the accounts and of the Council’s financial position
at 31 March 2022. Although focused on the year reported that ended on 31 March 2022, the narrative statement aims to provide an up-to-date
overview of the Council’s financial position.
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OUR VISION AND AMBITION

Subsequent to the approval of the Council’s Business Plan for 2021-22, the political leadership of the Council changed following the elections in
May 2021. On 14 May 2021, a Joint Agreement was signed by the Leaders of the Liberal Democrat, Labour and Independent groups. The following
week at the Council’s annual general meeting, a new Joint Administration was agreed to lead the Council.

The Joint Administration placed Covid recovery for all of Cambridgeshire — children and families, local businesses, and working people —and
bringing forward targets to tackle the climate emergency, at the top of the Council’s policy agenda. There was also a commitment to form strong
and positive partnerships as members of the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority and the Greater Cambridge Partnership in the
areas of public health, support for business, climate change, public transport, and building affordable, sustainable homes. A new strategic
framework was discussed and agreed at Full Council in February 2022, setting out how our councillors and staff across Cambridgeshire are
committed to creating a greener, fairer and more caring Cambridgeshire. To achieve this vision, we have five corporate priorities as our key areas
of focus, which draw input from all areas of the organisation.

Our Priorities Outcomes

We are committed to:

e Tackling climate change and sustainability Health & Care Sh

Sustainability

e Ensuring people in Cambridgeshire enjoy healthy, safe and

independent lives. Priority

Outcomes
Place &

Communities

e Ensuring Communities are inclusive, creative and equitable

Children &
e Ensuring Children and young people have the opportunity to Young People

thrive

e Enabling safer and sustainable travel around the county.



https://d3n8a8pro7vhmx.cloudfront.net/cambridgelibdems/pages/5179/attachments/original/1620984611/County_agreement_2021_FINAL.pdf?1620984611
https://cambridgeshire.cmis.uk.com/CCC_live/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=DSq2xkjuuxVOeT5wGKiSRswNnwoExFpe3%2frsOFPBYhQ24wykNTBqZA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
https://cambridgeshire.cmis.uk.com/CCC_live/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=DSq2xkjuuxVOeT5wGKiSRswNnwoExFpe3%2frsOFPBYhQ24wykNTBqZA%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
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As a Council we are reforming how we work to decentralise and deliver our priority outcomes. We want to meet ambitious targets to deal with
the climate crisis, support areas of the county or individuals who are in most need and improve people’s lives. We aim for our services to be more
sustainable and for people to get what they need as close to home as possible. We have also established a £14m Just Transition Fund to provide
investment to move to a more sustainable Cambridgeshire in a way that is fair to everyone.

The Council has committed to establish community-based models of service delivery and continues to focus on protecting and caring for the most
vulnerable in our county. In 2022-23, a £2.9 million Countywide programme has been created to support older people living in their own
communities and homes for longer. We also acknowledge the hardships faced by our children and young people, who have faced great challenges
as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. There is also continued funding for free school meals of £15 per week for each eligible child throughout the
school holidays.

The Council has put responding to the climate emergency at the centre of our priorities. Meeting this commitment will require a transformation of
our procurement practices for a greener future and investment into low carbon technologies, services and infrastructure supported by innovative
green investment models. In 2022-23, the Council agreed an investment of at least £4.6m over five years in climate change related policies,
including addressing the causes of flooding and to support improvements in biodiversity. This is in addition to planned investments in a Council
owned solar farm, smart energy grids, community heat schemes and decarbonisation of our property estate totalling more than £80m.

We have already made £121m in savings over the last five years. 2022-23 will require us to deliver a further £12m. As our resources come under
increasing pressure as the effects of the pandemic become clear, we will continue to progress our plans for transforming how we support our
residents.

The Council’s 2022-23 Business Plan, approved at the Full Council meeting on 8th February 2022, outlines these priorities in more detail and is
available on the Business Planning pages of our website. The Council’s latest Business Plan for 2023-24 was reviewed and approved by Full Council
on 9t February 2023, and business planning papers for 2024-25 are now also being scrutinised ahead of Full Council in early February 2024.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The financial performance of the Council is monitored by the Strategy, Resources & Performance Committee (formerly the Strategy & Resources
Committee) using a monthly Integrated Finance Monitoring Report. Most recent copies of these reports can be viewed on the finance and
performance page of our website.
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Performance against the 2021-22 Business Plan

Significant matters and variances are summarised in this section and supported by the detail included in the statement of accounts and core financial
statements. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are normally grouped by outcome area and their status and direction of travel reported to
Committees; however, KPI reporting was put on hold for much of the year due to the impact of the pandemic (see below for further detail).

Achievement of priorities is within the context of the challenging funding position for local authorities. The Council has become more efficient to
deliver the outcomes it has prioritised and to enable the delivery of the objectives and services that it has planned to deliver within the business
plan.

The following table provides a snapshot of the Council’s performance at year end by value and was reported to the Strategy and Resources
Committee on 27 June 2022.

Revised Net Area Measure Outturn Year End Position
Budget 31-03-2022
£436.5m Revenue Budget | Variance (Em) £417.8m -£18.8m
£174.0m Capital Variance (Em) £130.3m -£43.7m
Programme*
£805.0m Balance Sheet Net borrowing £679.5m -£125.5m
Health activity (Em)

* These figures include budget / expenditure funded under the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts direction but do not include budget / expenditure
that is under the remit of the Greater Cambridge Partnership.

The overall revenue budget position was an underspend of -£18.8m; this is -4.3% variance to the year-end budget. The underspend reflects the
unprecedented impact of the pandemic on the Council’s budget. Chief amongst these were ensuring the Council deployed national grants to meet
the pressures the Council faced and that the levels of growth and demand for care home based social care for adults was much lower than the
projected level. Whilst this reflects that to date the impacts of the pandemic have been appropriately funded and the Council has planned for an
increase in the level of reserves it holds, there are major challenges ahead both in terms of demand for services resulting from long-term effects
of the pandemic and the impacts of economic uncertainty and inflation. Given the scale of the risks and potential pressures the Council is facing,
the underspend in 2021-22 enables the Council some additional flexibility to face these challenges.
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The capital programme variance was 25% for 2021-22, in cash terms this represented a reduced level of slippage compared to the previous two
years. There were a range of factors causing capital rephasing this year, including delays due to the complexity of decision-making involving
multiple external stakeholders, issues with sourcing materials, delays in tendering processes, delayed starts on site, restrictions on sites due to
Covid, delays in condition surveys due to Covid and lack of capacity in project team resources.

Performance data for the Council

During 2021-22, the Council adopted a new Performance Management Framework that sets out how we manage the performance of the Council
and ensures that there is a consistent, streamlined and joined-up approach. At the end of quarter four of 2021-22, formal KPI reporting to most
Service and Policy committees remained suspended due to the Council’'s emergency pandemic response. At that point, all Committees were in the
process of developing a revised suite of KPIs in response to the new framework.

Performance information is published on LG Inform, the local area benchmarking tool from the Local Government Association. This information is
derived from statutory returns submitted to Government and covers the key elements of all Council services. Some performance information was
reported to the Strategy and Resources Committee in March 2022. This information related to organisational health and showed the following
RAG ratings for 14 Corporate Services KPls:

RAG rating Number of
indicators
Blue 3
Green 3
Amber 3
Red 3
Other 2
Total 14

The RAG statuses used were:
e Blue — current performance is better than target by more than 5%
e Green — current performance is on target or up to 5% over target
e Amber - current performance is off target by 10% or less
e Red - current performance is off target by more than 10%
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e Other — performance is currently being tracked to inform the target setting process, or key activity is being measured where a target has
not been deemed pertinent by the relevant service lead

Revenue spending on Services

The Council’s net cost of services for 2021-22 was £484.8m. This figure was £67.0m higher than the net expenditure for the year of £417.8m that
was reported to the Strategy and Resources Committee in June 2022. The Statement of Accounts are prepared on a different accounting basis to
those reports presented to members for resource allocation decisions (the Statement of Accounts takes account of charges for items such as
capital expenditure and variations in the accounting for retirement benefits).

The Council has continued to face financial challenges during 2021-22, principally due to the unprecedented impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.
Every Council department experienced disruption to its budgetary provision, and in some cases completely different patterns of service demand
as well as wholly new activities and initiatives needed to be supported dynamically and at short notice. The scale of additional funding in response
has also been significant; major additional grants received in 2021-22 by the Council totalled £59.7m. Substantial funding for outbreak
management and mitigation has been used in 2021-22 to reimburse the Council for costs incurred by staff in responding to Covid since the start of
the pandemic. Several contingencies set aside for additional pandemic-related costs were not fully required, in part due to late government
funding announcements. In particular, the government announced very late in 2020-21 that free access to Personal Protective Equipment would
continue, resulting in the 2021-22 Council budget for this not being required.

Demand for social care services grew by less than expected. Budgets for growth in demand were set before the outcome of much of the pandemic
was known and included a significant expected increase in need for key services that has not yet appeared. However, there is a risk that need for
social care was only delayed by the pandemic and could appear in a later year at increased cost. The pandemic has also affected the social care
provider market, which has seen increased demand for home care and has struggled to fully resource it. Adults Commissioning are developing
strategies that will enable them to work with the provider market to develop the provision needed for our service users, both now and in the
future. This should lead to more choice when placing service users with complex needs and consequently reduce cost pressure in this area, but
this is a long-term programme, and it is unlikely to deliver savings in the short term. Social work teams and Adults Commissioning are also working
on strategies to increase the uptake of direct payments. This will deliver more choice for service users and decrease reliance on the existing care
market.

The impact of the pandemic led to a notable reduction in the number of people having their care and support needs met in care homes. However,
the financial position of this service is uncertain. There is a growing number of people who have survived Covid, who now have significant needs.
Many vulnerable adults have developed more complex needs as they have not accessed the usual community-based or early help services due to
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lockdown. The impact of delayed health care treatments, such as operations, will also negatively impact individual needs and health inequalities.
We anticipate that demand will increase as we complete more annual reviews, many of which are outstanding due to the pandemic.

The number of children and young people with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP), and the complexity of need of these young people has
continued to rise at an accelerated rate. The additional costs to meet the needs of these young people contributed to an in-year overspend on the
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) of £13.0m, resulting in a cumulative DSG deficit of £39.3m to be carried forward into 2022-23. This is a ring-fenced
grant and, as such, overspends do not currently affect the Council’s bottom line. We continue to work with the Department for Education (DfE) to
manage the deficit and evidence plans to reduce spend.

The Council’s interest payable on borrowing underspent by £2.5m, mainly due to historically low interest rates allowing the Council to secure
cheaper market loans from other Local authorities and the Public Works Loan Board. As a result, the Council decided to make an overpayment of
£3.4m on its Minimum Revenue Provision (a charge made on the Council’s revenue budget to finance its capital programme). The value of the
overpayment is the estimate of the impact of potential changes to Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) on third-party loans that are currently
being consulted on by Central Government. As the consultation is not yet concluded, and there is a potential for an impact should it not resolve in
our favour, it is considered prudent to overpay MRP to an equivalent amount, which provides some offset for one year should the consultation
not resolve in the Council’s favour.

Despite the scale of the challenge the Council has faced this year, the 2021-22 year-end outturn position was a £18.8m underspend. The Council’s
net budget is mainly financed through council tax, business rates and government grant, and totals £537.0m as shown below:
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Sources of Funding £537m (£000)

» Council Tax Income
u Non-Domestic Rates

= Non-Ringfenced
Government Grants

Capital Grants and
Contributions

The Council's gross income also includes specific government grants, charges from fees, income from sales, and partnership funding from other
public sector bodies. The scale of this income is outlined in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (page 42).

Capital spending and financing

The Council’s adjusted capital budget for the year was £172.3m plus £40.0m Greater Cambridge Partnership and £11.0m Horizons budgets. Actual
capital expenditure financed from capital resources for the year was £166.2m, leaving £57.1m (26%) of the adjusted capital budget unspent at the
year end. This was largely due to the timing of spending and in most cases does not represent underspends on schemes. Many capital projects
span a number of years, so this simply means that expenditure has not been incurred as had been profiled within the business plan. In 2021-22
the key areas where spend varied from planned budgets were:

e Care Suites in East Cambridgeshire (£5.5m) — the in-year underspend primarily related to a delayed start while the project is still in the
planning stages with the NHS confirming the overall scope

e Housing Schemes (£6.7m) — improved cash flows for This Land meant further borrowing from the Council was not needed

e Swaffham Prior Community Heat Scheme (£5.6m) — part of the underspend (£2.7m) related to the Heat Network Investment Project spend
which, when assessed at year end for the appropriate accounting treatment, was determined should be included within the accounts of
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the Special Purpose Vehicle, rather than the Council. There were also delays on the delivery of the energy centre as a result of site
asbestos contamination which needed to be cleared, and the difficulty getting hold of cladding materials

e North Angle Solar Farm, Soham (£3.6m) — the in-year underspend was primarily due to a delay with the power network, with further
delays since experienced as a result of the private wire element of this project

e Waterbeach Waste Treatment Facilities (E4.5m) —work has been reprofiled and has not commenced as of 2023-24
e Investment in Connecting Cambridgeshire (£9.2m) — spend for this year was reprofiled due to Covid and contractual delays

A variations budget is used to account for an expected level of slippage which is inherent within capital projects. This year, other than the above
schemes, there were other smaller in-year delays in the timing of spending beyond the variations budget, due to a range of factors including
issues with sourcing, supply and lead times of obtaining materials, and the impact of Covid-19.

Capital expenditure - £166.2m

B Place & Economy

B People &
Communities

m Corporate
Services

The chart above outlines the £166.2m capital expenditure made during the financial year.

The cost of borrowing has been factored into the 2021-22 debt charges outturn position, as well as being accounted for within the 2022-2027
business planning process.
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The following chart outlines how the £166.2m capital expenditure was financed this year.

Sources of Capital Financing - £166.2m

m Loan Finance
m Capital Receipts
m Specific Grants

m Developer & other
contributions

Loan finance is undertaken through borrowing, typically from either the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) or from other Local Authorities, where
the Council subsequently meets interest and repayment costs from its own resources.

The Council received £20.2m of Capital Receipts in year, of which £15.3m was used to fund part of the capital programme.

Reserves

The Council’s total reserves have increased in-year by £256.0m, to £613.8m at 31 March 2022. This balance comprises £246.7m (40%) of ‘usable’
reserves (cash-backed resources that an authority can apply to the provision of services), and £367.1m (60%) of ‘unusable’ reserves (those that an
authority is not able to utilise to provide services, e.g. the revaluation reserve which contains the gains arising from increases in the value of
certain assets, which will not release cash until the assets are sold).
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A proportion of the Council’s usable reserves (the General Fund and Earmarked Reserves) provide the organisation with vital flexibility when faced
with uncertainty and risk. At 31 March 2022, these reserves stood at £200.4m. Of this balance, the General Fund comprised £46.4m and reserves
earmarked for specific purposes totaled £154.1m, including a £26.2m transformation fund (most of which was re-purposed effective from 1 April
2022 into other reserves including a new Just Transition Fund and to offset our growing deficit on schools spending), and £4.7m to cover
insurance risks.

The following table shows the ‘net’ change (contribution to and from) in these types of reserves:

General Fund and Earmarked Reserves £m
Balance at 1 April 2020 168.3
General Fund 20.3
Schools Carry Forwards -0.2
Other Earmarked Reserves 12.1
Balance at 31 March 2021 200.4

Assets and liabilities
The Council’s cash and cash equivalents position increased in the year by £1.1m from £92.6m at 31 March 2021 to £93.7m at 31 March 2022,
reflecting an increase in long-term borrowing.

During 2021-22, the net assets of the Council and its Balance Sheet value increased by £256.0m (a 71.6% increase), from an opening balance of
£357.7m to a closing balance of £613.8m at 31 March 2022. The net increase was driven by a combination of a decrease in liabilities relating to
the pension fund and borrowing, and an increase in the value of property, plant and equipment, investments and short-term debtors.

External borrowing and investment

Total debt outstanding at 31 March 2022 was £778.0m (consisting of £628.0m long-term borrowing and £150.0m short-term borrowing), which was
well within the Capital Financing Requirement Limit of £1,026.6m determined in accordance with legislation. Long-term borrowing increased by
£65.6m during the year, and short-term borrowing decreased by £98.9m.

Cash surpluses during the year have been invested in accordance with guidance issued by the Government and the Council’s agreed Treasury
Management Strategy. The primary objective is to ensure that funds are invested prudently, with priority given to security and risk minimisation.
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KEY PROJECTS AND ACTIVITIES

Covid-19 Impacts

The Covid-19 pandemic continued to impact on service delivery and finances throughout 2021-22, with resources in place to support residents
through the pandemic. Like other local authorities, Cambridgeshire County Council continued to receive additional funding from Government in
response to the pandemic, much of which was passported on to the care sector. The Council participated in the regular central monitoring exercise.

In Adult Social Care, the impact has been focussed on working with health and care partners and providers to ensure timely pathways for hospital
discharge and to stabilise the independent care market, which has faced increasing costs and workforce recruitment and retention issues. The
Council also distributed over £14.5m in funding from central government to social care providers for infection control, testing, and workforce
capacity, including additional funding provided as a result of the emergence of the Omicron variant of Covid-19. There is a likelihood of additional
demand pressures over the medium-term due to people not accessing care during the pandemic and therefore presenting with increased needs, as
well as the reduced amount of preventative work that was possible.

The Council has also continued to lead on system-wide outbreak management work through our Public Health directorate. This has involved working
with district, NHS and other partner organisations to manage local test & trace and other outbreak management measures. £3m of government
grant was provided for this work in 2021-22, in addition to funding carried forward from 2020-21 as the outbreak management programme was
extended.

Within Education there has been continued support to schools and other educational provision as part of the recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic.
The cumulative revenue balances held by maintained schools have remained reasonably consistent to the levels at the end of the 2020-21 financial
year. Alongside other grants, maintained schools received around £760k of Recovery Premium across the 2021-22 academic year to support pupils
whose education has been impacted by the pandemic. The Council has also continued to distribute a national grant to schools and education settings
to enable children to access school meals during holidays.

In relation to the County’s investment activities, there was an underachievement of target income from the property portfolio due to reduced rental
income, particularly in relation to leisure property and student accommodation. These returns are expected to return to pre-pandemic levels in the
longer-term but are being closely monitored for any ongoing impact.
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Within Place and Economy, there continued to be a shortfall in the normal level of income in Parking Operations, particularly in relation to on-street
parking and bus lane enforcement, although the level of income greatly improved from 2020-21. The government grant to mitigate loss of income
partly offset these pressures, but there was still a net residual loss. Parking income is not expected to fully return to pre-pandemic levels.

Large numbers of Council staff have continued to work from home where possible during the year, in accordance with government guidance, and
benefitting from recent investments by the Council in agile ways of working. February 2022 saw a phased return to the office for more staff whilst
continuing to comply with building ventilation guidance.

SEND Transformation / Safety Valve Intervention Programme

In response to the increasing demand and financial pressures, an extensive Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Transformation
programme has been developed aiming to shift system behaviours, manage demand, increase local provision and improve processes across the
SEND system.

Alongside this, the Department for Education (DfE) introduced the safety valve intervention programme in 2020-21 in recognition of the
increasing pressures on high needs, targeting local authorities with the highest Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficits. The programme has been
expanded in 2022-23, and based on the latest cumulative DSG deficit, Cambridgeshire was selected to participate in the next round. The
programme requires local authorities to develop substantial plans for reform to their high needs systems, with support and challenge from the
DfE, to rapidly place them on a sustainable footing. If the authorities can demonstrate sufficiently that their DSG management plans create lasting
sustainability and are effective for children and young people, including reaching an in-year balance as quickly as possible, then the DfE will enter
into an agreement with the authority, subject to Ministerial approval. The Council’s plans were submitted to the DfE in September 2022, and
updated in January 2023. Cambridgeshire was successful in getting a safety valve agreement in 2023, resulting in additional funding from
government for school capacity and to meet part of the accumulated deficit, on condition that the recovery plan is put into effect.

Local authorities are held to account for the delivery of their plans and hitting the milestones in the plans via quarterly reporting to the DfE. If
adequate progress is being made, authorities will receive incremental funding to eliminate part of their historic deficits, generally spread over five
financial years, alongside an expectation that Councils and the schools sector make a contribution themselves. If the conditions of the agreement
are not being met, payments may be withheld.
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Low Carbon Energy Generation

The Council has a key role to place in tackling climate change through generating renewable energy on
buildings and land owned by us, ensuring availability of low carbon energy to residents and businesses. To
deliver on this we piloted the Triangle Solar Farm near Soham, which went live in 2017 and have since
commenced work on a range of other solar electricity generation projects including at North Angle Farm,
Babraham & St Ives park & rides, Stanground near Peterborough and in the car park of our New Shire Hall
building.

We are developing a low carbon community heat network in the village of Swaffham Prior, becoming one
of the first examples of retrofitting a heating network into an existing community. We are also aiming to
make all of our owned and operated buildings carbon neutral by 2025.

These energy generation projects deliver both on our pledge to move towards net zero as a county, as well
as providing a financial return to the Council through the sale of electricity to customers.

Think Communities and Covid-19 Co-ordination Hub

The Think Communities partnership approach has been developed in collaboration with partners to create a shared vision, approach, and
priorities for building community resilience across the county. Our vision is that people feel safe, healthy and connected and able to help
themselves and each other, in communities that are integrated and possess a sense of place through a public sector-wide approach where
partners listen, engage and align with communities.

The Covid-19 Co-ordination Hub was originally created to provide a holistic and sustainable offer of support to residents and communities across
Cambridgeshire during the pandemic. The focus has always been on supporting vulnerable groups, but the Hub has continued to adapt in
response to the pandemic as it has evolved, and beyond. Initially supported by redeployed staff, it has helped with the vaccination rollout,
coordination of volunteers and supporting families that are facing increased financial hardship, initially because of the pandemic, but now also
related to the cost-of-living crisis. Increasing numbers of people are struggling to meet their basic needs despite unemployment rates being the
lowest since records began. This is borne out by local demand on services that provide support to those in financial need.

During 2021-22, the Hub administered and delivered the Department for Work and Pensions’ Household Support Fund (HSF). The financial
support delivered by the HSF can be vital in the short term, however, the provision of emergency financial support does little or nothing to
address the causes of financial distress and inequality suffered by increasing numbers of people, or to support people to access longer-term help
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and support that they may be eligible for. The Hub saw more than 25,000 direct applications for support over the last 6 months of 2021-22, with
almost 700 applications received in a single day in the early part of the year. The Joint Administration identified anti-poverty as one of its priorities
and therefore to address this, the Council’s locally funded version of the HSF (also being delivered through the Hub) is taking a different

approach. Free from the constraints of the national fund, the local approach seeks to ensure that those in need are aware of and are utilising the
full range of benefits and services available to them. As such, the Hub will speak to those in need and make them aware of (and facilitate
applications to) services such as free school meals, Healthy Start, free childcare offers, warm home discounts, Council Tax reduction schemes, and
more. This approach was co-designed with partners in district councils and the voluntary and community sector, based on the learning from the
delivery of the Household Support Fund 2021-22. Funding from government for the Household Support Fund, backed by local resources,
continued into 2022-23 and 2023-24.

Greater Cambridge Partnership (GCP)
Signed in June 2014, the Greater Cambridge Partnership (GCP) is an arrangement between four local partners: the County Council, Cambridge City
Council, South Cambridgeshire District Council and the University of Cambridge.

GCP is the local delivery body for the Greater Cambridge City Deal with central Government, bringing powers and investment to vital
improvements in infrastructure and technology, supporting and accelerating the creation of 44,000 new jobs, 33,500 new homes and 420
additional apprenticeships. In response to Covid-19 additional training and apprenticeship opportunities have since been created and will
continue to be delivered.

It one of the largest City Deal programmes taking place in the UK and brings key partners together to work with communities, businesses, and
industry leaders to support the continued growth of one of the world’s leading tourism and business destinations. GCP aims to share prosperity
and improve quality of life for the people of Greater Cambridge, now and in the future.

The GCP’s City Deal is worth up to £500 million in government grant funding to 2030 for transport infrastructure, smart technology, accelerating
housing delivery and tackling the skills shortage faced by businesses in the area. £100 million of government funding was made available until
2020, and at the start of 2020-21 it was confirmed that the programme had successfully passed the 2020 gateway review which allocated an
additional £200m over the period to 2024-25. A further gateway review is due to take place in 2025 which, if successfully passed, will unlock a
further £200m of government grant. The GCP will also generate local funding, for example through Section 106 agreements with developers, and
explore private funding opportunities. This complements existing capital expenditure plans in the area.
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For further details and more information about the individual projects being undertaken by GCP please visit their website.

This Land Group (Housing Development)

The Council is committed to making a major contribution to addressing local housing needs. This Land was established

by the Council in 2016, in order to enable development of land for housing. The Council is the sole shareholder of This

Land Limited (and the ultimate parent of its wholly owned subsidiaries). thiS

Land.

A DEVELOPMENT
BUSINESS

The Council did not advance any additional loans to This Land during 2021-22 reflecting the company’s cashflow profile.
The company also repaid £2.0m of maturing loans during 2021-22. At the balance sheet date, a total of £113.9m of
financing was on-loan to This Land from the Council; across the year interest received on This Land loans was £8.5m. The
Council holds a degree of security over the loans by way of mortgages on the properties transferred providing some
collateral and risk mitigation. In addition to loan financing, the Council holds £5.851m in equity shares in This Land, all of which was invested prior
to 2021-22.

Coinciding with the new political leadership of the Council, during 2021 the Council commissioned a comprehensive shareholder review of the
firm by the property consultancy Avison Young. This identified several important action areas for the Council and the company, including
considering governance, resourcing and personnel, improving the commercial and financial position particularly with reference to currently
unidentified future property promotions and acquisitions and taking opportunities to deliver on broader objectives through the company’s work.
Principal risks to the business include construction cost management and the house price levels as well as securing future levels of profit from
planned land acquisitions and promotions. Progress with the AY recommendations and business plan is monitored through shareholder liaison
meetings and formally at the Strategy & Resources Committee.

There were changes in the leadership of This Land during the year, with a new Chair and Chief Executive appointed, alongside two retirements
from the board.

The company adopted extensive changes to its business plan in April 2020, and further updates and enhancements were included in its updated
2022 business plan, which was approved by Strategy & Resources Committee in September 2022. The company had experienced delays achieving
planning permission and was concerned its original plan was unduly optimistic. Amongst the revisions was a commercial decision by This Land to
dispose of a number of assets, refocusing on those of an optimum size and position for the company. By 31 March 2022, eight disposals had been
made. The sales progressed in what was a relatively buoyant housing market, thus allowing the company to maximise returns and select the best
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timing and circumstances for individual sales. The proceeds from these disposals have put the cash flow of the company into a position where no
additional borrowing has been needed from the Council than was previously anticipated for 2021-22.

This Land’s accounts are reflected in the group accounts section of this document. The company returned an operating loss for this period of
£3.7m, and the loss after interest and taxation was £7.2m. This included financing costs, wholly payable to the Council of £10.4m. The pre-
financing profit for the year was £2.5m, £1.8m greater than the previous period to 31 March 2021 and a steady improvement in line with the
current Business Plan. This Land is funded in a way that ensures most operating profits are returned to the single funder and shareholder (the
Council) through interest payments. This Land is not expected to make pre-financing operating profits before 2027 and therefore these results are
in-keeping with the medium-term plan of the business. During the 2022-23 it is anticipated that a further £8.5m of interest payments will be made
to the Council. The nature of how the house building industry and This Land measures its stock does not allow for added value gained throughout
the planning and construction process to be realised until the ultimate sale of the land or sale of the built units; therefore, the full market value of
This Land’s underlying assets is not shown in these financial statements.

On the balance sheet, the company has net liabilities of £21.3m, an increase of £7.2m compared to the position at 31 March 2021. The company’s
business plan has undergone its annual revision during 2022-23, taking into account this position, the future repayment of loans to schedule and
interest payments and to provide an overall cogent plan for commercial success.

The company has progressed new planning applications during 2021-22 with several either having secured a consent or awaiting determination.
Construction has progressed at phase 1 of Ditton Walk, where the majority of units have now completed and are occupied. There has also been
significant progress at Over, with sales commencing during summer 2022. The portfolio includes three large sites at Worts Causeway, Burwell and
Soham; the plan is to provide infrastructure to open up these sites and then sell on in serviced parcels. The company will also develop the later
phases on these sites. Good progress has been made with the first phase of disposals, starting with a sale in March 2022 at Burwell.

This Land is committed to delivering sustainability and has set up a new task group within the business to ensure that the company continues to
minimise its impact on the Cambridgeshire environment. The target is that This Land’s homes will achieve the highest levels of sustainability in
terms of energy savings and the company strives to ensure that they deliver excellence at all times by protecting local habitats, minimising climate
change and reducing their carbon footprint by building a local supply chain, resilient design and careful selection of materials.

For further details please visit the This Land website.

24


http://www.this-land.co.uk/

Cambridgeshire
Narrative Report AV County Council

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority

The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) was constituted in March 2017. The authority is made up of representatives of
the seven local Councils in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough and led by a directly elected Mayor. As part of a devolution deal with government,
the responsibilities of the CPCA include local economic growth, housing, transport and infrastructure improvements and adult skills.

The CPCA now receive the Integrated Transport Block, Highways Maintenance Block and Pothole Action Fund grants from the Department for
Transport (DfT) rather than the County Council. The combined value of these funding streams in 2021-22 was £22.0m. CPCA has the power to top-
slice the grant allocations before passing them on to the County Council however, for 2021-22, this power was not utilised. Therefore, the funds
were effectively passported to the County Council in line with the original DfT allocation and there was no net effect on the Council’s accounts.

The CPCA is now also responsible for passenger transport services and is able to levy the County Council. The levy for Cambridgeshire in 2021-22
was £9.2m (an increase of 4.7% on 2020-21) and the service is now managed directly by the CPCA. The CPCA is also able to directly precept
Council Tax, though it did not do so in 2021-22 (it subsequently used this flexibility for 2023-24).

Further information can be found on the Combined Authority’s website.

Kings Dyke

The A605 between Whittlesey and Peterborough carries over 14,000 vehicles per day and there are some
120 daily train movements across the level crossing that crosses the road. The resulting closure of the King’s
Dyke level crossing barrier causes significant delay to traffic. Future plans by the rail industry to increase the
number of trains along the route will further increase delays. The situation is exacerbated during the winter
months, when local flooding often closes the North Bank, an alternative route between Whittlesey and
Peterborough, for long periods of time. Some additional 5,000 vehicles a day displaced by this closure use
the level crossing, doubling the average delay per vehicle. The delays have an impact on local businesses and
commuters travelling between Whittlesey and Peterborough.

The Kings Dyke scheme is designed to remove these delays and the scheme is strongly supported locally. The available route presents engineering
challenges in respect of ground conditions and the close proximity of a deep, disused clay extraction pit, and due to the increase in the previous
contract target construction price it was decided in August 2019 to re-procure a new Design and Construction contract. The road opened in July
2022.
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Cambs 2020

During 2021-22, the Council has opened its new civic headquarters at Alconbury Weald, a new community in
the Huntingdonshire district of the County. More widely through our Cambs 2020 programme we have
implemented a hub and spoke model for the location of services. This has positioned a wide range of Council
teams closer to the communities they serve, as well as modernising and rationalising the office
accommodation estate and generating a significant commercial benefit from vacating Shire Hall to be
reinvested into frontline services. The move will also generate a significant capital receipt for the Council.

The Council’s new civic headquarters at Alconbury Weald was an £18m capital project, and in July 2021, the
Council took possession of the New Shire Hall building. The project concluded with a £0.6m underspend and
with only minor delays as a result of the materials supply chain during the pandemic. Strategy And Resources
Committee agreed in January 2022 to an updated financial deal for the old Shire Hall site and a restructured deal which provides a smaller up
front capital receipt, but a higher level of annual revenue income, which can be ploughed back into frontline services. The spokes refurbishment
programme of other Council buildings has also completed across 16 individual projects.

Pensions
The accounts reflect the underlying commitment that the Council has to pay future retirement benefits for its employees. This information has
been compiled by the Fund’s actuary in accordance with the International Accounting Standard 19 Employee Benefits (IAS 19 (Revised 2011)).

The estimated pension deficit for the Council, measured on an actuarial basis, has decreased from £700.7m at 31 March 2021 to £552.8m at 31
March 2022. Employer pension contributions of £34.0m were made during 2021-22, with the pension liability decreasing by £49.6m (largely as a
result of changes to the actuarial financial assumptions), and the fair value of the Fund’s assets increasing by £98.2m. Overall, this has resulted in
a £147.8m decrease in the deficit amount.

Lead Authority model
The former LGSS shared back-office operation with three partners — Milton Keynes Council (MKC), Northamptonshire County Council (NCC) and
Cambridgeshire County Council (CCC) — ended in November 2020, with several of the services previously shared through LGSS repatriated to their
home councils in September 2020. In March 2020, Full Council agreed to the creation of a Lead Authority model with a continuing partnership for
services where there was a demonstrative benefit to continue the sharing of these services, but with one appointed authority leading on behalf of
the other partners. The services included in this model are as follows:

- Payroll and HR Transactions (led by West Northamptonshire)
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- Insurance (led by Cambridgeshire)
- Business Systems (led by West Northamptonshire)
- Finance Operations (including Transactions and Debt Management) (led by Cambridgeshire)

A Lead Authority Board was created, which meets monthly and reports to the respective Councils in line with normal governance arrangements.
Senior representatives of the four authorities (NCC has since split into two unitary authorities) sit on the board. The services delivered under this
model remain as a shared offer, therefore the benefits and risks continue to be jointly shared between the partners.

The Lead Authority Shared Services underspent by £1.0m in 2021-22, of which £0.3m was the share for Cambridgeshire.

Joint working with Peterborough City Council and Senior Leadership Organisational Change

In early 2022, the two Councils appointed separate chief executives, thereby discontinuing the previously shared arrangements for the Head of
Paid Service role. This was in response to the findings of an LGA peer challenge and enables each Council to build their strategic leadership
capacity to address the challenges they face collectively. Sharing arrangements for several other senior roles, including the Executive Director for
Place & Economy and the Director of Business Improvement & Development have also been discontinued. A new Corporate Leadership Team
structure was put in place in September 2022, providing a clear and sustainable leadership structure, with teams that are aligned and positioned
to tackle the challenges the Council faces. The Council separated from Peterborough across a number of services, particularly within adult social
care, children’s social care and education, in 2023, ensuring that Cambridgeshire has the right level of dedicated senior leadership capacity for our
services.

Where there are advantages to sharing, the Council has continued to work closely with Peterborough City Council on a more targeted basis, for
instance benefitting from a shared public health team throughout the pandemic with the bringing greater scale and resilience.

Workforce Profile

The Council is an equal opportunities employer and promotes fairness to all. The Council has set a corporate outcome to promote equality, diversity
and inclusion, and has increased dedicated staffing capacity in this area and also established a decentralised network of champions for this across
our workforce. Regular Council-wide conversations are held on EDI matters, enabling all staff to be updated on progress and to ask questions of
senior managers. Members of staff will also see EDI featuring as part of their regular conversations with their line manager as part of ensuring this
is truly embedded across the organisation. For further information please see the Workforce Profile which is available on the Equality and Diversity
page of our website.
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THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

The purpose of these accounts is to present a true and fair view of the financial results of the Council’s activities for the year ended 31 March 2022,
and to summarise the overall financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2022. This section provides an overview of the financial performance
of the Council. The Statement of Accounts brings together the major financial statements for the Council for the financial year 2021-22. The various
sections, and their contents, are as follows:

Statement of Responsibilities, Certificate and Approval of Accounts (page 35)
This statement sets out the responsibilities of the Council and the Council’s Executive Director for Finance and Resources regarding the proper
administration of the Council’s finances.

Independent Auditor’s Report to Members (page 37)

This reports the independent auditors’ opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with relevant legal
and regulatory requirements, of the financial position of the Council, its income, expenditure and cash flows for the year, the financial transactions
of the Pension Fund, the amount and disposition of the Fund’s assets and liabilities (other than liabilities to pay pensions), and other benefits that
will arise after the end of the year. The independent auditor also gives an opinion on the Council’s use of resources and value for money.

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) (page 42)

This Statement is fundamental to the understanding of the Council’s activities as it reports the net cost for the year of all of the functions for
which the Council is responsible. It also demonstrates how that cost has been financed from general government grants and income from local
taxpayers.

The net cost of services for 2021-22 across the Council’s directorates was £484.8m. After taking into consideration other operating expenditure,
financing and investment income / expenditure, grant income, and income from taxation (Council Tax and Business Rates), the Council’s surplus on
the provision of services was £27.7m.

Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS) (page 43)

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Council. The reserves are analysed into 'usable reserves'
(i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and ‘unusable’ reserves. The ‘surplus or (deficit) on provision of
services’ is included within the Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure line and shows the true economic cost of providing the Council’s
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services, more details of which are shown in the CIES. These are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund
balance for Council Tax setting purposes.

The headline figures from this statement are that the Council’s Usable reserves, including the General Fund and earmarked reserves, have
increased overall by £31.2m in 2021-22. The Council’s Unusable Reserves have increased by £224.9m, largely as a result of technical accounting
adjustments impacting upon the Pensions Reserve, Revaluation Reserve and Capital Adjustment Account.

Balance Sheet (page 44)

The Balance Sheet presents the value of the Council’s current and non-current assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2022 with the bottom line
effectively being the net worth of the organisation. The net assets of the Council (assets less liabilities) are matched by the level of ‘usable’ and
‘unusable’ reserves held. Usable reserves are those resources that the Council may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a
prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use. Unusable reserves are those that the Council is not able to use to provide
services. Unusable reserves include those that hold unrealised gains and losses, where amounts would only become available to provide services
if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences as shown by the ‘adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under
regulations’ line in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

The headline figures from this statement are shown in the table below.

Balance Sheet Heading 31 March 2021 | 31 March 2022 Change Main Reason for Change

Property, Plant and Equipment £1,602.8m £1,688.0m £85.2m Increase | Additions, off-set by revaluations and
disposals

Long-term Investments £34.3m f44.7m £10.4m Increase | Investment in a new investment fund, plus
gains in value of investments held

Short-term Debtors £92.3m £106.0m £13.6m Increase | Increased invoicing in March mainly to NHS,

other Local Authorities and Highways
England (not due for payment until April
2022)

Short-term Borrowing £248.9m £150.0m | -£98.9m Decrease | Refinancing of short-term loans taken as
longer-term borrowing, taking advantage of
historically low interest rates
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Short-term Creditors £118.6m £131.0m £12.4m Increase | Mainly due to an increase in invoices
awaited from other Local Authorities to
fund joint activities undertaken during the
year

Long-term Borrowing £562.4m £628.0m £65.6m Increase | Refinancing of short-term loans taken as
longer-term borrowing, taking advantage of
historically low interest rates

Other Long-term Liabilities £804.9m £654.7m | -£150.2m Decrease | Decrease in pension liabilities partially
offset by an increase in the fair value of
plan assets

Cash Flow Statement (page 45)

This Statement summarises the inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents arising from transactions with third parties for revenue and
capital purposes. It outlines the changes in the cash and cash equivalents, for example changes in debtor balances (those owing the Council
money) and creditor balances (those to whom the Council owes money) during the year. The statement shows how the Council generates and
uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities.

The headline figures from this statement are that during 2021-22 the Council’s purchases of property, plant and equipment were £8.6m higher
than in 2020-21 (year to 31 March 2022 £121.2m; year to 31 March 2021 £112.6m), receipt of proceeds from asset sales and capital grants was
£45.4m higher (year to 31 March 2022 £137.8m; year to 31 March 2021 £92.5m) and the net cash flow for receipts and repayments of short and
long-term borrowing was £82.1m lower (year to 31 March 2022 £33.4m outflow; year to 31 March 2021 -£48.8m inflow).

Borrowing and investments were made in accordance with the Council’s published Treasury Management Strategy.

Expenditure and Funding Analysis (page 56)

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis forms the first note to the core financial statements. The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis
is to demonstrate to council taxpayers how the funding available to the authority (i.e. government grants, council tax and business rates) for the
year has been used in providing services in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by the authority, in accordance with generally
accepted accounting practices. The Expenditure and Funding Analysis also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes
between the Council’s directorates. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
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The increase in the General Fund is £32.1m; the net increase to the Council’s General Fund Reserve was £20.3m with a £12.1m net increase to
earmarked reserves. This differs from the income and expenditure shown in the CIES by £4.4m. This difference comprises a number of technical
accounting adjustments which the Council is required to make by the Code, including capital charges such as depreciation, actuarial pension
adjustments and adjustments to the Collection Fund. A reconciliation of these adjustments is shown in Note 8 to the accounts.

Notes to the core financial statements (page 46)

The notes to the financial statements are essential in the presentation of a true and fair view for the accounts. They present information about
the basis of preparation of the financial statements and the specific accounting policies used; explain how material transactions have been
accounted for; and provide information that is not provided elsewhere in the financial statements but is relevant to an understanding of them.

Pension Fund accounts (page 158)

The objective of the Pension Fund financial statements is to provide information about the financial position, performance and financial
adaptability of the Fund. The statements show the results of the stewardship of management; the accountability of management for the
resources entrusted to it, and of the disposition of its assets at the year end. The Council administers this Fund on behalf of all local authorities in
Cambridgeshire, plus a number of other public and voluntary bodies, and commercial organisations. In line with the Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 2013, the Fund’s actuary undertakes a funding valuation every three years for the purpose of setting employer contribution
rates for the forthcoming triennial period. The last such valuation took place as at 31 March 2022.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND ARRANGEMENTS FOR VALUE FOR MONEY

The Council has developed a range of integrated approaches and organisational processes. Together these help to drive risk management and
value for money.

Members develop the Council’s vision and priorities and keep these under review. The business planning process ensures the best use of
resources. It also ensures that the Council delivers services according to its objectives. The Annual Governance Statement on page 242 sets out
the Council’s wider approach to risk management.

The Strategy and Resources Committee receive the Corporate Risk Register on a regular basis. It is also reviewed by CLT. The register documents
key risks including:
e failure of the Council’s arrangements for safeguarding vulnerable children and adults;
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e the Council not having enough budget to deliver short and medium-term objectives;

e aserious incident occurring, preventing services from operating and/or requiring a major/critical incident response;

e the Council’s human resources are not able to meet business need.
There are mitigating measures and controls in place. This means no risks are currently assessed as red on the Council’s likelihood and impact
matrix.

The Council’s Scheme of Financial Management sets out the internal regulatory framework for financial control, procurement compliance and
resource distribution. The Contract Procedure Rules underwent comprehensive review in early 2022, following audit findings in relation to
procurement compliance reported at the November 2021 Audit & Accounts Committee. Following the agreement of the budget by Members,
savings delivery is closely monitored through a “tracker” methodology alongside monthly reporting to Council Committees.

FUTURE CHALLENGES AND MEDIUM-TERM OUTLOOK

In recent years local government funding has stabilised following a period of significant fiscal tightening from around 2010. During this period
income from government grants fell sharply — the Revenue Support Grant, worth £86m a year to the Council in 2013-14, was withdrawn
completely in 2019-20. Additional ring-fenced funding for social care has recently been forthcoming, acknowledging the acute pressures faced by
the social care system due to an aging population and increasing complexity of need. Other grants are received from government for a range of
services. Despite the reduction in general government grant, these additional ring-fenced grants mean that we still have a dependency on central
government funding, which over recent years has not been announced more than one year in advance.

Notwithstanding the unprecedented fiscal and economic shock to the public finances as a result of Covid-19, these challenges remain and have
been increased by the impacts of the pandemic on care providers and on vulnerable people. Given the government’s fiscal targets it is also
unlikely that the sector will receive sufficient funding to meet the growth in cost from demand increases, inflation and legislative changes. The
government set its 2022-27 medium term financial strategy, including assumptions about council tax and reserve levels in this context.

Some of the specific challenges that the Council expects to face over the next five years are:

e Potential for growing regional and more local inequalities as a result of the economic fallout from the pandemic

e Ongoing lower levels of fees and charging income, as well as reduced local taxation receipts

e Uncertainty about the need for, and funding for, lasting Covid-19 related costs such as personal protective equipment or infection
control procedures in social care providers
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e Providing additional support for our local care markets to ensure sufficient appropriate care provision remains available

e Responding to significant national reforms and legislative change such as to the SEND and Schools framework, the Adult Social Care
charging reforms and the Care Act costs cap and regulatory reform for waste management.

e Energy price inflation

Narrative Report

In 2022-23, we are expecting an increase of 6.63% in total funding we receive from all sources, but with more significant demand and inflationary
pressures. The Council’s 2022-23 Business Plan expects to see an overall increase in funding (excluding schools grants) of 9.31% to 2026-27. This is
primarily due to increases in Council Tax, which is one of the few funding sources that we can plan to increase over the medium-term. However,
unprecedented inflationary pressures, population growth and uncertain levels of demand for services are expected to result in significantly higher
additional budget pressures over the same period. There is uncertainty about local NHS funding levels and activity that may impact on the
Council’s costs, particularly as national hospital discharge funding arrangements cease. Implementation of our ambitious agenda for a fairer,
greener, more caring Cambridgeshire also requires significant capacity for internal change.

The following table illustrates the size of the challenge that lies ahead (as reflected in the Council’s 2022-27 Business Plan):

2023-24

2024-25

2025-26

2026-27

2027-28

Total

Unidentified Savings Requirement for the Year

£17.4m

£22.7m

£16.8m

£18.3m

£18.6

£93.85

Looking ahead, the Council faces a larger savings requirement for upcoming years than it has had to deal with for some time. Although there is
some additional short-term flexibility resulting from the underspend in 2021-22 and carried forward grant balances will mitigate risks to some
degree, the need to deal with financial challenges on a recurrent basis is the priority.

Uncertainties

There is a great deal of uncertainty surrounding the UK’s public finances. The economy is experiencing some of the highest levels of inflation for
more than 30 years, interest rate rises and significant challenges around labour availability. There is also uncertainty about national fiscal policy
and it is unclear what levels of resources will available to local authorities in the medium term, though government has indicated that national
public spending levels will be lower than inflation over the next five years.

In addition to this uncertainty, there are a number of Central Government reforms that are currently expected or have been paused, most notably
those on technical aspects of Fair Funding and the Business Rates Retention Scheme, which are expected to affect the Council’s funding, and
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elements of social care reform. The additional funding allocations provided by Government in response to growing social care pressures and the
Covid-19 pandemic continue to be based upon the existing funding model and population projections from 2013 which disadvantage
Cambridgeshire as a high-growth county. The Census 2021 results have illustrated that Cambridge City was one of the most underestimated local
areas in the country in terms of population growth. Cambridgeshire is one of the lowest funded shire counties in England, so the County Council is
pursuing a fairer funding campaign to improve this funding outlook in line with the growing population and fairness to local taxpayers.

CONCLUSION

| am extremely grateful to all the finance staff and others involved with budget management across the Council, for the support and enthusiasm
that they have brought to the many and challenging tasks they have faced through this unprecedented year, and who have worked hard to close
the accounts to a demanding timescale.

V2

Michael Hudson
Executive Director for Finance and Resources
29 April 2024

FURTHER INFORMATION
Further information about the Statement of Accounts can be obtained from the finance and budget pages on the Council’s website or by
contacting Corporate Finance using the following details:

Address: ALC2618, New Shire Hall, Emery Crescent, Enterprise Campus, Alconbury Weald, Huntingdon, PE28 4YE
Telephone: 0345 045 5200
Email: finance@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
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Statement of Responsibilities, Certificate and Approval of Accounts

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES, CERTIFICATE AND APPROVAL OF ACCOUNTS
THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSIBILITIES
The Council is required to:

B Approve the Statement of Accounts;

B Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to ensure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the
administration of those affairs. In this Council that officer is the Executive Director for Finance and Resources (Section 151 Officer);
B Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient, and effective use of resources and safeguard its assets.

THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR FINANCE AND RESOURCES’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Executive Director for Finance and Resources is responsible for the preparation of the Council's Statement of Accounts, including those of

the Pension Fund, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the
United Kingdom (the Code).

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Executive Director for Finance and Resources has:
B Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;

B Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent;

B Complied with the Local Authority Code.

The Executive Director for Finance and Resources also has to have:

B Kept proper accounting records which were up to date;
B Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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CERTIFICATE OF ACCOUNTS

| certify that this Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council at 31 March 2022 and its income

and expenditure for the year 2021-22 and authorise the accounts for issue.

Michael Hudson
Executive Director for Finance and Resources
Date: 29 April 2024

APPROVAL OF ACCOUNTS

| confirm that these accounts were approved by the Council under the delegated authority of the Chair of the Audit and Accounts Committee

on 29 April 2024.

Signed on behalf of
Cambridgeshire County Council:

Gorahnm Luihrom

Cllr. G. Wilson
Chair of the Audit and Accounts Committee
Date: 29 April 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CAMBRIDGESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Cambridgeshire County Council (the 'Authority') and its subsidiaries (the 'Group') for the year ended 31 March 2022 under the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 (as amended). The financial statements comprise the Authority and Group Movement in Reserves Statement, Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, Balance Sheet, Cash Flow
Statement, the related notes 1 to 41 to the Authority financial statements, and the related notes 1 to 10 to the Group financial statements.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22 as
amended by the Update to the Code and Specifications for Future Codes for Infrastructure Assets (November 2022).

In our opinion the financial statements:
e  give a true and fair view of the financial position of Cambridgeshire County Council and the Group as of 31 March 2022 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
. have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22 as amended by the Update to the Code
and Specifications for Future Codes for Infrastructure Assets (November 2022).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Authority and Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard and the Comptroller and Auditor General's AGNO1, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Executive Director for Finance and Resources' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements
is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and the
Authority's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 12 months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Executive Director for Finance and Resources with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report. However, because not
all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Authority's and Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

37



Cambridgeshire
County Council

Independent Auditor’s Report M

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the 'Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement 2021-22', other than the financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon. The Executive Director for Finance and Resources is responsible for the other information contained within the 'Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement 2021-22".

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the
course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a
material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Matters on which we report by exception

We report to you if:
. in our opinion the annual governance statement is misleading or inconsistent with other information forthcoming from the audit or our knowledge of the Group and the Authority
e weissue areport in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (as amended)
e we make written recommendations to the audited body under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (as amended)
. we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (as amended)
e we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (as amended)
e we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (as amended).

We have nothing to report in these respects.
Responsibility of the Executive Director for Finance and Resources

As explained more fully in the 'Statement of Responsibilities, Certificate and Approval of Accounts' set out on pages 35-36, the Executive Director for Finance and Resources is responsible for the
preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in
the United Kingdom 2021/22 as amended by the Update to the Code and Specifications for Future Codes for Infrastructure Assets (November 2022), and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view and for such internal control as the Executive Director for Finance and Resources determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Executive Director for Finance and Resources is responsible for assessing the Group and the Authority's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Group and the Authority either intends to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review
regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or
intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. However, the primary responsibility for
the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the entity and management.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Authority and determined that the most significant are:

. Local Government Act 1972,

. Local Government Act 2003,

e The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 as amended in 2018 and 2020,
e  The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, and

. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

In addition, the Group and the Authority has to comply with laws and regulations in the areas of anti-bribery and corruption, data protection, employment legislation, tax legislation, general power of
competence, procurement and Health & Safety.

We understood how Cambridgeshire County Council is complying with those frameworks by understanding the incentive, opportunities and motives for non-compliance, including inquiring of
Management, the Head of Internal Audit, those charged with governance and the Monitoring Officer and obtaining and reading documentation relating to the procedures in place to identify, evaluate
and comply with laws and regulations, and whether they are aware of instances of non-compliance.

We corroborated this through our reading of the Group and Authority's committee minutes, Group and Authority policies and procedures and other information. Based on this understanding we
designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and regulations. Our procedures had a focus on compliance with the accounting framework through obtaining sufficient audit
evidence in line with the level of risk identified and with relevant legislation.

We assessed the susceptibility of the Group and Authority's financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might occur by understanding the potential incentives and pressures for
management to manipulate the financial statements, and performed procedures to understand the areas in which this would most likely arise.

Based on our risk assessment procedures, we identified inappropriate capitalisation of revenue expenditure, inappropriate accounting adjustments made in the 'Movement in Reserves Statement' and
management override of controls to be our fraud risks.

To address our fraud risk of inappropriate capitalisation of revenue expenditure we tested the Group and Authority's capitalised expenditure to ensure the capitalisation criteria were properly met and
the expenditure was genuine.
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To address our fraud risk of inappropriate accounting adjustment made in the 'Movement in Reserves Statement' we tested Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS), capital
grants, depreciation, impairments and revaluation losses, capital expenditure funded by revenue, and minimum revenue provision to ensure that transactions were appropriate and the 'Movement in
Reserves Statement' was fairly stated.

To address our fraud risk of management override of controls, we tested specific journal entries identified by applying risk criteria to the entire population of journals. For each journal selected, we tested
the appropriateness of the journal and that it was accounted for appropriately. We assessed accounting estimates for evidence of management bias; and evaluated the business rationale for significant
unusual transactions.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor's report.

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Cambridgeshire County Council in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (as amended) and the
Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the members of Cambridgeshire County Council, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (as amended) and for no other purpose,
as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Group and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Mase t{ncson

B &
N eRE——— Date: = April 2024

Mark Hodgson (Key Audit Partner)
Emst & Young LLFP (Local Auditor)
Cambridge
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Cambridgeshire

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure VWA County Council
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
RESTATED
2020-21 2021-22
Gross Gross Net Gross Gross Net
Expenditure  Income Expenditure (+) Expenditure Income Expenditure (+)
/ Income (-) / Income (-)
£000 £000 £000 Note £000 £000 £000
111,093 -36,658 74,435Place & Economy 124,317 -33,599 90,718
759,408 -454,711 304,697People & Communities 787,951 -455,689 332,262
34,414 -50,058 -15,644Public Health 47,464 -42,496 4,968
86,370 -24,261 62,109Corporate Services * 79,591 -22,770 56,821
991,285 -565,688 425,597Cost of Services 1,039,323 -554,554 484,769
22,628 0 22,6280ther operating income and expenditure 10 423 -4,289 -3,866
54,597 -16,563 38,034Financing and investment income and expenditure 11 47,012 -18,576 28,436
0 -501,444 -501,444Taxation and non specific grant income 12 0 -537,037 -537,037
-15,185Surplus (-) or Deficit (+) on Provision of Services -27,698
-31,940surplus (-) or deficit (+) on revaluation of property, plant 22 -36,591
and equipment
39,321Impairment and revaluation loss charged to the 22 17,918
revaluation reserve
-419Surplus (-) or deficit (+) on financial assets measured at 27 -2,088
fair value through other comprehensive income
181,067Remeasurement of net pension benefit/liability 37 -207,587
188,0290ther Comprehensive Income (-) and Expenditure (+) -228,348
172,844Total Comprehensive Income (-) and Expenditure (+) -256,046

* 2020-21 comparators restated due to restructure, with figures for Commercial & Investment and LGSS Operational service
lines now included in Corporate Services service line

The purpose of this statement is explained in the Narrative Report (page 28).
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT

General Capital Capital Usable Reserves  Unusable Reserves
Fund * Receipts Grants Total Reserves Total
Reserve  Unapplied Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1-Apr-20 114,380 11,632 35,623 161,635 368,958 530,593
Movement in 2020-21
Total comprehensive income and expenditure 15,185 0 0 15,185 -188,029 -172,844
Adjustments between accounting and funding basis under 38,720 -771 709 38,658 -38,658 0
regulations (note 19)
Increase (+) or decrease (-) in 2020-21 53,905 -771 709 53,843 -226,687 -172,844
Movement in 2021-22
Total comprehensive income and expenditure 27,698 0 0 27,698 228,348 256,046
Adjustments between accounting and funding basis under 4,435 2,996 -3,936 3,496 -3,496 0
regulations (note 19)
Increase (+) or decrease (-) in 2021-22 32,133 2,996 -3,936 31,194 224,852 256,046
Balance at 31-Mar-22 200,418 13,857 32,396 246,672 367,123 613,795

* General Fund balances include earmarked reserves

The purpose of this statement is explained in the Narrative Report (page 29).
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Cambridgeshire

Balance Sheet County Coundi
BALANCE SHEET

31-Mar-21 31-Mar-22
£000 Note £000
1,602,835 Property, plant and equipment 23 1,687,986
19,012 Heritage assets 25 19,012
127,606 Investment property 24 130,162
12,614 Intangible assets 11,447
34,303 Long term investments 27 44,741
147,868 Long term debtors 26 144,972
1,944,238 Long Term Assets 2,038,320
1,282 Assets held for sale 23 272
731 Inventories 547
92,340 Short term debtors 29 105,960
92,598 Cash and cash equivalents 30 93,701
186,951 Current Assets 200,480
-248,872  Short term borrowing 27 -150,000
-118,579 Short term creditors 31 -130,964
-2,518 Provisions -2,109
-1,572 Capital grants and contributions received in advance 33 -557
-371,541 Current Liabilities -283,630
-6,940 Provisions -7,537
-562,407 Long term borrowing 27 -627,990
-804,895 Other long term liabilities 32 -654,719
-27,657 Capital grants and contributions received in advance 33 -51,129
-1,401,899 Long Term Liabilities -1,341,375
357,749 Net Assets 613,795
215,478 Usable reserves 21 246,672
142,271 Unusable reserves 22 367,123
357,749 Total Reserves 613,795

CERTIFICATE OF ACCOUNTS
| certify that this Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial

position of the Council at 31 March 2022 and its income and expenditure for the year 2021-
22 and authorise the accounts for issue.

M e

Michael Hudson

Executive Director for Finance and Resources (Section 151 Officer)

Date: 29 April 2024

The purpose of this statement is explained in the Narrative Report (page 29).
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Cambridgeshire
Cash Flow Statement AV County Counci

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2020-21 2021-22
£000 £000
-15,185 Net Surplus (-) or Deficit (+) on the Provision of Services -27,698
-36,743 Depreciation -33,155
-22,095 Impairment and downward valuations -13,274
-2,961 Amortisation -2,500
-18,036 Increase(-)/Decrease in Creditors 21,805
24,261 ncrease/Decrease (-) in Debtors 16,891
62 Increase/Decrease (-) in Inventories -184
-27,989  Movement in Pension Liability (difference between employer's contributions paid
and IAS19 adjustments) -59,762
-24,873  Carrying amount of non-current assets and non-current assets held for sale, sold
or derecognised -15,629
~26,258  Other non-cash items charged to the deficit on the provision of services -3,066
-134,632 Adjustments to the net deficit on the provision of services for non-cash -88,874
movements
0 Proceeds from short-term and long-term investments 0
2,661  proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 19,918
83,101  Grants for financing capital expenditure 90,905
10,741 Any other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing activities -21,113
96,503 Adjustments for items included in the deficit on the provision of services that 89,710
are investing and financing activities
-53,314 Net Cashflows from Operating Activities -26,862
112,564 pyrchase of Property, Plant and Equipment 121,170
16,420 pyrchase of short-term and long-term investments 8,350
28,251  Other payments for investing activities 160
0 Proceeds from short-term and long-term investments 0
-2,661  proceeds from the Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment -19,918
-89,806  Capital Grants Received -117,906
-27,011  Other receipts from investing activities -21,531
37,757 Investing Activities -29,675
-271,000  Cash Receipts of short and long-term borrowing -238,000
4,650 Cash Payments for the reduction of the outstanding liabilities relating to finance
leases and on-balance sheet PFI contracts (principal) 2,667
222,232 Repayments of short and long-term borrowing 271,365
24,792 Other payments for financing activities 19,402
-19,326 Financing Activities 55,434
-34,883 Net Increase (-) or Decrease (+) in cash and cash equivalents -1,103
57,715 Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting year 92,598
92,598 Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the reporting year 93,701

The purpose of this statement is explained in the Narrative Report (page 30).

45



Cambridgeshire
03. Notes to the Statements AV County Coundi

DISCLOSURE NOTES
General Accounting Policies and Judgements Page 47

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Page 56
Statement Supporting Notes

Movement in Reserves Statement Page 77
Supporting Notes

Balance Sheet Supporting Notes Page 90

Other Supporting Notes Page 138
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Cambridgeshi
General Accounting Policies and Judgements AW Cgﬂjntac%eusnclirle

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

For the Accounting Policies refer to Appendix 1.

2. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED BUT HAVE NOT YET BEEN ADOPTED

The Code of Practice on Local Government Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021-22 (the Code) requires the disclosure of information
relating to the expected impact of an accounting change that will be required by a new standard that has been issued but not yet adopted.
This applies to the adoption of the new or amended standards within the 2022-23 Code. The 2022-23 Code has recently been published, and
the following standards are being introduced in 2022-23:

e The annual IFRS improvement programme notes 4 changed standards:
o IFRS 1 (First-time adoption) amendment relates to foreign operations of acquired subsidiaries transitioning to IFRS
o 1AS 37 (Onerous contracts) clarifies the intention of the standard

o IAS 41 (Agriculture) one of a small number of IFRSs that are only expected to apply to local authorities in limited circumstances.

The new standards are not expected to have a material impact on the 2021-22 or 2022-23 Accounts.

3. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In applying the accounting policies, the Council has had to make certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty
about future events. The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are:

B The Council currently has 3 PFIl contracts with private sector partners. These are as follows:
e AmeyCespa Limited — to provide waste treatment and household waste facilities for the county until 2036;

e Balfour Beatty plc. —to replace elements of Cambridgeshire’s existing Street Lighting network (those elements beyond their useful
life), and subsequent maintenance until 2036; and
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e Equitix Learning Community Partnerships — for the construction of Thomas Clarkson Academy (with a concession period until
January 2037) as part of the Building Schools for the Future programme.

For the Waste and Street Lighting schemes, the Council is deemed to control the service provision, own the risks and rewards of the assets
and will either take ownership of the assets, or have the option to renew the lease. As such, all relevant income, expenditure, assets and
liabilities have been recognised on this basis. In relation to the Building Schools for the Future scheme, Thomas Clarkson Academy has
academy status, and as such, its assets are not recognised on the Council’s Balance Sheet (in accordance with the Council’s accounting
policy). However, the associated liabilities are recognised, as the contractor has met their commitments in terms of their right to receive
payments from the Council for the capital element of the scheme, and there is no recourse to the school for any future payments.

B Heritage assets held on deposit to the value of £19m have been included within the Council’s Heritage Asset balance. Many of these deposits
have been made without any kind of formal agreement that states who retains ownership, and for how long the deposit has been made. The
Council has reviewed these items to determine when they were placed on deposit, and for the vast majority of items the deposits were made
between 1934 and 1989. As such, given the long-term nature of the deposits, the Council has concluded that it effectively retains control of
all assets on deposit and has therefore included these values within the Heritage Assets balance.

B The Council has judged that the stipulation in its Section 106 agreements regarding a requirement for it to use funds within a set timeframe,
is a condition attached to the provision of the funding. However, where there is a clear plan in place to use this funding within the stipulated
timeframes by means of a funding commitment within the Council’s Business Plan, the conditions are regarded as having been met and the
funding is recognised within unapplied contributions. The Council has therefore applied the judgement of there being a condition attached
across all Section 106 agreements not included in the Council’s Business Plan, which results in £22.8m being recognised in Capital Grants and
Contributions unapplied as at 31 March 2022.

B The Council judges that the appropriate accounting treatment for the City Deal funding from Central Government to the Greater
Cambridge Partnership (GCP) of £40m per year from 2020-21 to 2024-25 is to treat the funding as a series of separate grants, and
therefore to recognise each year’s individual allocation in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement annually. To make this
judgement, the Council concluded that the substance of the arrangement with GCP for the City Deal grant effectively gave it control of the
grant, even if the legal form of the arrangement does not. The Council also considered whether any conditions existed at the balance sheet
date with regard to the receipt of the £40m of funding from Central Government. The Council concluded that no conditions exist regarding
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General Accounting Policies and Judgements M’ A County Coundi

the receipt of the £40m (using the definition of ‘conditions’ required by the Code in relation to grants), therefore, in accordance with
paragraph 2.3.1.2 of the CIPFA Code of Practice, £40m grant income should be recognised in 2021-22.

B The Council has judged that Covid-19 grants received can be identified as being either principal or agent — no individual grants have been
split into principal and agent elements. As a result, unless a grant was assessed as being 100% agent, it was identified as principal.

B As set out in Property Plant and Equipment (Note 23), Infrastructure Assets have a net book value of £958.7m at 31 March 2022. In
accordance with the temporary relief offered by the Update to the Code on infrastructure assets this note does not include disclosure of
gross cost and accumulated depreciation for infrastructure assets because historical reporting practices and resultant information deficits
for the years 2010-11 to 2013-14 mean that this would not faithfully represent the asset position to the users of the financial statements.

The authority has determined in accordance with Regulation 30M of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England/Wales)
(Amendment) Regulations 2022 that the carrying amounts to be derecognised for infrastructure assets when there is replacement
expenditure is nil.

4, GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION

The concept of a going concern assumes that an authority’s functions and services will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. The provisions in the Code in respect of going concern reporting requirements reflect the economic and statutory environment in which
local authorities operate. These provisions confirm that, as authorities cannot be created or dissolved without statutory prescription, they must
prepare their financial statements on a going concern basis of accounting.

Local authorities carry out functions essential to the local community and are themselves revenue raising bodies (with limits on their revenue
raising powers, arising only at the discretion of central government). If an authority were in financial difficulty, the prospects are that
alternative arrangements might be made by central government either for the continuation of the services it provides or for assistance with the
recovery of a deficit over more than one financial year. As a result of this, it would not therefore be appropriate for local authority financial
statements to be provided on anything other than a going concern basis. The Council’s accounts are therefore produced under the Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021-22 and have been prepared on the going concern basis.
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In carrying out its assessment that this basis is appropriate, made for the going concern period to 30 April 2025, management of the Council
have undertaken forecasting of both income and expenditure, the expected impact on reserves, and cashflow forecasting.

The Council’s year-end reserve balances, as reported in these statements and compared to last year end are as follows:

Date General Fund Earmarked Reserves
£m £m

31/03/2022 46.5 154.1 (note 20)

31/03/2021 26.1 142.2 (note 20)

The forecast level of general reserves and earmarked reserves at 30 April 2025 is £30.6m and £85.4m respectively, which matches the required
minimum level for the General Fund as set out by the Chief Finance Officer at year-end of £29.5m. For 2022-23, 2023-24 and 2024-25, Council
approved a balanced budget on 8™ February 2022, 7t February 2023 and 13™ February 2024 respectively.

Liquidity

The Council has undertaken cash flow modelling through the going concern period to 30 April 2025 which demonstrates the Council’s ability to
work within its Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) and cash management framework throughout the period. The only expectation of external
borrowing is to support the Capital Programme and to compensate for a reduction in internal borrowing, which is consistent with our plans and
normal practice.

The key assumption within this forecast includes the achievement of £18.8m of savings in 2024-25. The Council does not expect any potential
inability to achieve these savings to significantly affect either the level of reserves or the remaining liquidity throughout the period.

The Council has also assessed the cashflow forecasts of its significant subsidiaries, mainly the This Land Group. The Council liaises closely with
This Land, in its role as shareholder and exercising its powers under the loan agreement as Lender, to monitor the company’s financial position.
In February 2022, the company exchanged contracts on the disposal of property it owns at Burwell, leading to the receipt of £21.5m on 18
March 2022 with a further £10m over the period January to July 2023. Similarly in August 2023, the company exchanged contracts on the
disposal of property at Worts Causeway, leading to a receipt of £6.75m and three further agreed amounts of £6.75m due for payment
according to contractual terms at future dates. The company has also sold all but two plots at the development site in Over. As a result, This
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Land is in a reasonable cash position, with a current cash balance as at 31° March 2024 of £6.1m. The company is therefore in a position where
it can meet its financial obligations for the foreseeable future. The Council is in regular liaison with This Land and able to provide support or re-
phasing, within its resources, in the event that financial or economic conditions facing the company deteriorate.

Conclusion

On this basis, the Council have a reasonable expectation that it will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence throughout
the going concern period maintaining the provision of its services. For this reason, alongside the statutory guidance, we continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

5. ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAIJOR SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the Council about the future or that are
otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However,
because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates.

The items in the Council’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2022 for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming
financial year are as follows:

Item Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions

Property, Plant Asset valuations are completed on a 5-year rolling basis and values are reviewed In order to ensure that carrying values are kept in line with fair values
and annually to ensure they are not materially misstated. in the interim, the Council values all assets not being valued under the
Equipment rolling programme by either a) a desktop valuation or b) an indexation

analysis that assesses when assets were last revalued and applies
indices based on Building Cost Information Service forecasts, market
indices and land value calculations for every year since the asset was
last revalued. The Council also commissions a market review between
the valuation date and the balance sheet date and adjusts for any
material variances if required.

51



General Accounting Policies and Judgements

Cambridgeshire

AAA
VWA County Counci

Item
Fair Value
Measurements

Pension
Liability

Uncertainties

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities cannot be measured
based on quoted prices in active markets (i.e. Level 1 inputs), their fair value is
measured using valuation techniques (e.g. quoted prices for similar assets or

liabilities in active markets or the discounted cash flow (DCF) model). Where possible,

the inputs to these valuation techniques are based on observable data, but where
this is not possible judgement is required in establishing fair values. These
judgements typically include considerations such as uncertainty and risk. However,
changes in the assumptions used could affect the fair value of the Council’s assets
and liabilities.

Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Council employs relevant experts to
identify the most appropriate valuation techniques to determine fair value.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair
value of the Council’s assets and liabilities is disclosed in Notes 27 and 28 below.

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex
judgements relating to the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are
projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected
returns on pension fund assets. A firm of consulting actuaries is engaged to provide
the Council with expert advice about the assumptions to be applied.

Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions

The Council uses the Discounted Cash flow model to measure the
Existing Use Value of some of its investment properties, surplus
properties, Assets Held for Sale and financial assets.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement include management assumptions regarding rent
growth, vacancy levels and discount rates — adjusted for regional
factors.

Significant changes in any of the unobservable inputs would result in
significantly lower or higher fair value measurement for the
investment properties, surplus properties, Assets Held for Sale and
financial assets.

The effect on the pension’s liability of changes in individual
assumptions can be measured. For instance:

e 1 yearincrease in member life expectancy would result in an
increase in the liability of approximately 3%-5%;

e 0.1% decrease in the Real Discount Rate would result in an increase
in the liability of approximately £36.2m (1.9%); and

e 0.1% increase in the Pension Increase Rate would result in an
increase in the liability of approximately £33.0m (1.7%).
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6. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events occurring after the Balance Sheet date that require disclosure to enable readers to gain a
proper understanding of the financial position of the Council up to the date when this Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the
Executive Director for Finance and Resources. A ‘non-adjusting’ event is indicative of conditions that arose after the Balance Sheet date.

‘Non-adjusting’ Events after The Balance Sheet Date

Schools converting to Academy status

Academies are publicly funded independent schools that were first introduced in 2000. A further 2 schools are expected to convert to
Academy status or open as Academies during 2022-23, and further conversions are expected to take place in future years. By the end of the
2022-23 financial year, local authority maintained schools with a current net book value totalling £1.2m will have converted to Academy status
since the Balance Sheet date. The assets of these schools will be derecognised from the Council’s Balance Sheet in 2022-23.

Homes for Ukraine Grant

The Council has received £19.1m Homes for Ukraine grants. This is made up of £15.4m tariff allocation and £3.7m education and childcare
funding. The purpose of this grant is to provide wrap-around support to individuals and families to rebuild their lives and fully integrate into
communities. The Council is working with district councils towards this objective.

Integrated Care System

The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Integrated Care System (ICS) was established in July 2022. An ICS is a partnership between
organisations that meet health and care needs across an area such as local authorities, hospital providers and community providers. The
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group no longer exists and a new Integrated Care Board has been established which
has taken on the planning functions previously held by the CCG. The national and local expectation is that Local Authorities will be key partners
in ICS development and delivery and the ICS will be integral to the transformation and integration of health and social care. This will be an
evolutionary process which will be developed and built upon in partnership with the NHS.
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Section 151 Officer

After a restructure of the Council’s senior leadership team Michael Hudson has been appointed as the new Section 151 Officer, commencing
this role in March 2023.

This Land Limited Executive Team

There have been changes in the senior role holders at This Land since the balance sheet date. A new chief finance officer was appointed in
2023 and there is currently an interim chief executive following the previous incumbent’s departure at the end of 2023. Two new independent
non-executive directors joined the board in September 2022 and March 2023, and the Council’s nominated non-executive director changed in
March 2023 to be the new Executive Director for Place and Sustainability role holder.
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Statement Supporting Notes

7. EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS

The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis is to demonstrate to council taxpayers how the funding available to the Council (i.e.
government grants, council tax and business rates) for the year has been used in providing services in comparison with those resources
consumed or earned by the authorities in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. The Expenditure and Funding Analysis also
shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Council’s directorates. Income and expenditure accounted
for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

The "Other income and expenditure" line relates to all income and expenditure outside of the Net cost of services. This includes the following
lines within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: Other operating income and expenditure, Financing and investment
income and expenditure, Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure.
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RESTATED
2020-21

Net Adjustments Net
Expenditure between Expenditure in
Chargeable Funding and the
tothe Accounting Comprehensive
General Basis Income and
Fund Expenditure
Statement
£000 £000 £000
39,989 34,446 74,435
264,554 40,144 304,697
-15,802 158 -15,644
64,568 -2,459 62,109
353,309 72,289 425,597
-407,213 -33,569 -440,782
-53,904 38,720 -15,185

-97,761

-16,620

-53,904

-168,285

2021-22

Net Adjustments Net

Expenditure between Expenditure in

Chargeable Funding and the

tothe Accounting Comprehensive

General Basis Income and

Fund Expenditure

Statement

£000 £000 £000

Place & Economy 49,017 41,701 90,718

People & Communities 276,713 55,549 332,262

Public Health 4,072 896 4,968

Corporate Services * 59,904 -3,083 56,821

Net Cost of Services 389,706 95,063 484,769

Other Income and Expenditure -421,839 -90,628 -512,467

Surplus (-) or Deficit -32,133 4,435 -27,698
Opening General Fund Balance at 31 March -168,285
2020-21 Statutory opening balance adjustment for DSG 0

deficit

Plus: Surplus on General Fund Balance in Year -32,133
Closing General Fund Balance at 31 March -200,418

* 2020-21 comparators restated due to restructure, with figures for Commercial & Investment and LGSS Operational service

lines now included in Corporate Services service line
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8. NOTE TO THE EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS

Adjustments from the General Fund to arrive at the Adjustments Net Change Other Total
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for Capital for the Differences Adjustments
Amounts Purposes Pensions
Adjustments
£000 £000 £000 £000
Place & Economy 37,265 4,481 -45 41,701
People & Communities 9,406 32,324 13,819 55,549
Public Health 0 888 8 896
Corporate Services * -10,595 7,627 -115 -3,083
Net Cost of Services 36,076 45,320 13,667 95,063
Other Income and Expenditure -95,407 14,442 -9,663 -90,628
Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and -59,331 59,762 4,004 4,435

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

* 2020-21 comparators restated due to restructure, with figures for Commercial & Investment and LGSS Operational service

lines now included in Corporate Services service line

Adjustments for Capital purposes

e In the service lines this column records adjustments in respect of depreciation, revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute

(REFCUS), revaluation gains / losses, and Private Finance Initiative and lease movements.
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e Other Operating expenditure — adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income on disposal of assets and the amounts written off
for those assets.

e Financing and investment income and expenditure — the statutory charges for capital financing i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision and
other revenue contributions are deducted from other income and expenditure as these are not chargeable under generally accepted
accounting practices. There are also adjustments for movements in the market value of investment properties.

o Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure — capital grants are adjusted for income not chargeable under generally
accepted accounting practices. The Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and Expenditure line is credited with capital grants
receivable in the year without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the year.

Net Change for the Pensions Adjustments
Net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS19 Employee Benefits pension related expenditure and income.

e For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the Council as allowed by statute and the
replacement with current service costs and past service costs.

e For Financing and investment income and expenditure, the net interest on the defined benefit liability is charged to the CIES.

Other Differences
Other differences between amounts debited / credited to the CIES and amounts payable / receivable to be recognised under statute.
o For services this comprises the accrual made in respect of accumulated absences.

e The charge under Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure represents the difference between what is chargeable under
statutory regulations for Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) that was projected to be received at the start of the year, and the
income recognised under generally accepted accounting practices in the Code. This is a timing difference as any difference will be
brought forward in future shares of the Collection Fund surpluses or deficits declared by the billing authorities.
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9.

EXPENDITURE AND INCOME ANALYSED BY NATURE

The Council’s expenditure and income is analysed as follows:

2020-21
£000

308,886
620,601
70,348
46,047
416
22,212

1,068,510

-93,297
0
-16,563
-372,206
-601,629

-1,083,695

-15,185

Expenditure
Employee Benefits Expenses

Other Services Expenses

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment
Interest Payments

Precepts and Levies

Loss on the disposal of assets

Total Expenditure

Income

Fees, charges and other service income
Gain on the disposal of assets

Interest and Investment Income
Income from Council Tax and Non-domestic rates

Government Grants and Contributions
Total Income

Surplus (-) or Deficit (+) on the Provision of Services

2021-22
£000

353,084
637,310
48,929
47,012
423

0

1,086,758

-97,335
-4,289
-18,576
-393,358
-600,898

-1,114,456

-27,698
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10. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

Listed below are items of income and expenditure that cannot reasonably be allocated or apportioned to services.

2020-21 2021-22
£000 £000
416 Levies 423
22,212 (Gains)/losses on the disposal of non current assets -4,289
22,628 Total -3,866

11. FINANCING AND INVESTMENT INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

This contains items of income and expenditure arising from the Council’s involvement in financial instruments and similar transactions.

2020-21 2021-22
£000 £000
34,559 Interest payable and similar charges 32,570
11,488 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability 14,442
-9,811 Interest receivable and similar income -10,313
2,178 Income and expenditure in relation to investment properties and changes in their fair value -7,069

0 Trading accounts 0

-380 Other investment income -1,194
38,034 Total 28,436
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12. TAXATION AND NON-SPECIFIC GRANT INCOMES

This item consolidates all the grants and contributions receivable that cannot be identified to particular service expenditure. All capital grants
and contributions are shown below, even where they are service-specific.

2020-21 2021-22
£000 £000
-312,368 Council Tax Income -326,876
-59,838 Non-Domestic Rates -66,482
-43,250 Non-Ringfenced Government Grants -52,774
-85,988 Capital Grants and Contributions -90,905
-501,444 Total -537,037

13. POOLED BUDGETS

Better Care Fund

Cambridgeshire County Council hosts the local Better Care Fund. This is part of a national initiative to pool Health and Social Care funding to
services to achieve better outcomes for the local community.

The fund is operated according to an agreement made under section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 between the County Council
and the NHS in the form of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).

The partners planned expenditure together through the fund including:

B NHS contributions to older people’s and adults' community health services, intermediate care and services for carers;

B Social Care spending on reablement, extra care and a range of other services;

B Additional funding from the NHS for County Council commissioned services in order to protect social care and respond to the Care Act;
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B The Improved Better Care Fund grant paid to the County Council to provide investment to reduce delayed transfers of care to support

pressures within adult social care;
B Disabled Facilities Grant for accommodation adaptations managed by the District Councils.

For 2020-21 and 2021-22, funding and expenditure relating to Covid-19 hospital discharge schemes were also included in the Better Care Fund
in Cambridgeshire. These schemes provided national NHS funding to enable rapid discharges from hospitals into social care where appropriate,
with the Council providing a contribution based on a baseline of what it would have spent on social care that followed discharges in a more
normal year. This makes the pooled budget for 2021-22 larger than it was in pre-pandemic times, although hospital discharge spend is lower

than in 2020-21.
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The financial results of the Better Care Fund for 2020-21 and 2021-22 are as follows:

2020-21 Better Care Fund 2021-22
£000 £000
Funding provided to the pooled budget by:
Original BCF:
-19,795 the Council -19,795
-40,770 NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG -47,536
-60,565 -67,331
Covid Discharge Schemes:
-3,407 the Council -4,472
-9,169 NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG -3,895
-12,576 -8,367
-73,141 Funding Total -75,698

Expenditure met from the pooled budget:

36,790 the Council 37,722
23,775 NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 29,609
60,565 67,331
Covid Discharge Schemes:

12,576 the Council 8,367
0 NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 0
12,576 8,367
73,141 Expenditure total 75,698
0 Net Surplus (-) or Deficit (+) on the Pooled Budget 0

0 Council Share of the Net Surplus (-) or Deficit (+) on the Pooled Budget 0

In accordance with the section 75 agreement, NHS funded services which are commissioned
directly by the Clinical Commissioning Group, do not require transactions to be via the
County Council. Consequently, the actual transfer of funding from the NHS to the County
Council related to 2021-22 through the original BCF is £17.9m (£17.0m in 2020-21), and
£3.9m for the Covid-19 hospital discharge schemes.
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Other pooled budgets
The Council also has pooled budget agreements with the following bodies:

B NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG, for the provision of an Integrated Community Equipment Service (ICES) in Cambridgeshire, with
the partner organisation contributing 49% of the budget;

2020-21
£000

-2,420

-2,286

-4,706

2,472
2,335
4,807

101
52

Integrated Community Equipment Service

Funding provided to the pooled budget by:
the Council
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG

Expenditure met from the pooled budget:
the Council
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG

Net Surplus (-) or Deficit (+) on the Pooled Budget
Council Share of the Net Surplus (-) or Deficit (+) on the Pooled Budget

2021-22
£000

-2,464

-2,328

-4,792

2,565
2423
4,988

196
101
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B NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG, for the provision of integrated health and social services for Learning Disability Partnership
(LDP) clients in Cambridgeshire, with the partner organisation contributing 23% of the budget.

2020-21 Learning Disability Partnership 2021-22
£000 £000
Funding provided to the pooled budget by:
-67,777 the Council -71,819
-20,209 NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG -21,717
-87,986 -93,536
Expenditure met from the pooled budget:
68,856 the Council 73,333
20,531 NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 22,175
89,387 95,508
1,401 Net Surplus (-) or Deficit (+) on the Pooled Budget 1,972
1,079 Council Share of the Net Surplus (-) or Deficit (+) on the Pooled Budget 1,514

For both the ICES and LDP pools, the same proportions as those for budget contributions are used to meet any deficit or share any surplus arising
at the end of each financial year.

14. MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES

The allowances paid to members of the Council in 2021-22 were £879,227 (£923,977 in 2020-21) and expenses totalled £12,085 (£1,833 in
2020-21). Mileage expenses reduced significantly in 2020-21 due to the use of virtual meetings as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, but have
started to increase again during 2021-22 following the reintroduction of meetings in-person.
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15. OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION

Senior Employees

Schedule 1 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 involves a legal requirement to increase transparency and accountability in Local
Government for reporting the remuneration of senior employees. The Council publishes detailed senior employee pay information covering,
salary, bonuses, expenses allowances, compensation payments, pensions and any other benefits.

Senior employees whose salary is £50,000 or more, but less than £150,000, are required to be listed individually by way of job title. Employees

whose salary is £150,000 or more must also be identified by name. In this context, a senior employee is identified as follows:

B the designated head of paid service, a statutory chief officer or a non-statutory chief officer of a relevant body, as defined under the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989;

B any person having responsibility for the management of the relevant body, to the extent that the person has power to direct or control the
major activities of the body, in particular activities involving the expenditure of money, whether solely or collectively with others.

The majority of the senior employee roles are shared with Peterborough City Council under a S113 agreement (see footnotes below the table).
Full remuneration is shown for all employees; however, Cambridgeshire County Council pays only an agreed proportion for its share of the

costs.

The Council’s senior employee remuneration for 2021-22 (and 2020-21) is as follows:
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Postholders at 31 March 2022:

Chief Executive (S Moir)

Executive Director: Place and Economy (S Cox)

Executive Director: People and Communities (Interim) #

Service Director: Children's Services (Acting) *

Director of Resources and Chief Finance Officer (S151 Officer)

Director: Customer and Digital Services #

Director: Public Health #

Director: Business Improvement and Development #

Director: Legal and Governance (Monitoring Officer) #

Footnote
1

2021-22

2021-22
2020-21

2021-22
2020-21

2021-22

2021-22

2021-22
2020-21

2021-22

2021-22
2020-21

2021-22
2020-21

Salary, Fees
&
Allowances

£
20,357

156,252
153,599

143,152
134,180

20,058

111,902

135,107
117,297

101,879

139,731
131,180

107,410
101,797

Expenses

(Taxable) &
Benefits in

Kind

4,265

Employer
Pension
Contribution

£
0

27,344
26,880

25,052
23,481

3,735

19,583

23,644
20,527

14,956

24,453
22,956

18,797
18,065

Total Remuneration
Including Employer
Pension
Contributions

£
20,357

183,596
180,479

168,204
157,661

23,793

131,485

158,751
137,824

121,100

164,184
154,136

126,207
119,862

67



Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Statement Supporting Notes

A

Cambridgeshire
County Counci

Previous Postholders:

Chief Executive (G Beasley) *

Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer (S151 Officer)

Executive Director: People and Communities (W Ogle-Welbourn) *

Service Director: Children's Services *

Director: Public Health #

Total
Total

Footnote

1

10

2021-22
2020-21

2021-22
2020-21

2021-22
2020-21

2021-22
2020-21

2021-22
2020-21

2021-22
2020-21

Salary, Fees
&
Allowances

£
145,843
173,596

24,696
148,178

114,134
153,898

123,135
121,586

9,148
109,776

1,352,804
1,345,087

Expenses
(Taxable) &
Benefits in

Kind

825
1,100

825
1,100

5,915
2,200

Employer
Pension
Contribution

£
22,306
29,560

4,322
25931

0
0

21,425
22,200

1,343
16,115

206,960
205,715

Total Remuneration
Including Employer
Pension
Contributions

£
168,974

204,256

29,018
174,109

114,959
154,998

144,560
143,786

10,491
125,891

1,565,679
1,553,002
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Expenses Remuneration
Salary, Fees (Taxable) & Employer Including
& Benefits in Pension Employer Pension
Allowances  Kind Contribution Contributions
Footnote £ £ £ £
2021-22 165,358 0 11,248 176,606
Chief E tive: Greater Cambridgeshire Part hip (R St d 11 ' '
ief Executive: Greater Cambridgeshire Partnership ( opard) — 170,719 0 0 170,719

* PCC Employee: Post shared under a S113 agreement with Peterborough City Council. Full remuneration is shown, however Cambridgeshire
only pays an agreed proportion for its share of the costs.
# CCC Employee: Post shared under a S113 agreement with Peterborough City Council. Full remuneration is shown, however Cambridgeshire
only pays an agreed proportion for its share of the costs.

Footnotes:

1. The Chief Executive (G Beasley) retired on 31/12/2021 and on retirement they also received salary in lieu of accrued annual leave. They were
replaced by Chief Executive (S Moir) on 21/02/2022, whose remuneration is shown from this date. Interim arrangements for this post are detailed
in note 7. Chief Executive (S Moir) opted out of the pension scheme.

2. The Chief Finance Officer started this role on 03/05/2021 and was designated Section 151 Officer from this date, so their remuneration is shown
from this date. They were a director of Pathfinder Legal Services Ltd, Light Blue Fibre Ltd throughout 2021-22 and were a director of Swaffham Prior
Community Heat Network Ltd until March 2022.

3. The Executive Director: People and Communities (Interim) was the designated statutory Director of Adults Social Services throughout 2020-21
and 2021-22. Details of their remuneration for the whole of 2020-21 and 2021-22 are provided. They commenced their role as Interim Executive
Director on 01/01/2022.
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4. The new Service Director: Children's Services became the statutory Director of Children's Social Service on 01/02/2022 and their remuneration is
shown from this date. The previous Service Director: Children's Services reported to the Executive Director: People & Communities throughout
2020-21. They were designated as the statutory Director of Children's Social Services with effect from 04/03/2021, requiring inclusion in this
disclosure from this date. Details of their remuneration for the whole of 2020-21 and 2021-22 are provided. They retired in March 2022.

5. The Executive Director: Place and Economy was shared with PCC until 31/01/2022. From 01/02/2022 50% this role was funded by CPCA where
they became an Associate Director. Details of their remuneration for the whole of 2020-21 and 2021-22 are provided. The Executive Director was a
non-executive director at This Land throughout 2020-21 and 2021-22.

6. The Director: Customer and Digital Services was a director of OPUS People Solutions (East) Ltd from February 2021.

7. The new Director: Public Health started their role on 11/06/2021 and the previous Director: Public Health retired on 30/04/2021. The Deputy
Director of Public Health covered the role during the intervening period.

8. The Director: Business Improvement and Development was the Acting Chief Executive from 01/01/2022 to 20/02/2022.

9. The Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer retired in May 2021. They were a director of This Land Ltd until July 2020.

10. The Executive Director: People and Communities (W Ogle-Welbourn) retired in December 2021.

11. This postholder is employed by Cambridgeshire County Council as the accountable body for the Greater Cambridgeshire Partnership. The
partnership is a formal collaboration with ring-fenced funding and separate governance from the Council reporting to an Executive Board also
comprising representatives from Cambridge City Council and South Cambs District Council.
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Employee remuneration above £50,000

In addition to those individuals shown in the senior officers table, the number of Council staff (including teachers but excluding senior
employees) with remuneration (comprising salary, fees, expenses, allowances and any exit package) above £50,000 is as follows:

2020-21 Remuneration Banding 2021-22

No.
135
70
57
28
30

N
(@)

P NP PO N WEPL O O

366

£50,000 - £54,999
£55,000 - £59,999
£60,000 - £64,999
£65,000 - £69,999
£70,000 - £74,999
£75,000 - £79,999
£80,000 - £84,999
£85,000 - £89,999
£90,000 - £94,999
£95,000 - £99,999
£100,000 - £104,999
£110,000 - £114,999
£120,000 - £124,999
£125,000 - £129,999
£130,000 - £134,999
£135,000 - £139,999

No.
124
64
73
32
16
35

=
=

N P P O P O N W W

374

Approximately half of the employees referred to in the above table are employed in Cambridgeshire schools (excluding academies).
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Exit Packages
The number of exit packages in terms of compulsory and other departures, as well as the total amount paid per banding, is set out in the table
below:

2020-21 2021-22
Other Total Other Total
Departures Total Cost of Departures Total Cost of
Compulsory with Exit Exit Exit Compulsory with Exit Exit Exit
Redundancies Package Packages Packages Redundancies Package Packages Packages
No. No. No. £000 No. No. No. £000
30 35 65 414 £0 - £20,000 13 28 41 323
1 1 2 51 £20,001 - £40,000 1 4 5 126
> 2 7 337 £40,001 - £60,000 0 2 2 83
1 1 2 il £60,001 - £80,000 0 1 1 7
37 39 76 943 Total 14 35 49 607

16. TERMINATION BENEFITS
The Council terminated the contracts of a number of employees in 2021-22, incurring costs of £607k (£943k in 2020-21). See Note 15 above for
the number of exit packages and total cost per band that has been paid during the year.
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17. EXTERNAL AUDIT COSTS

The Council has incurred the following fees relating to external audit and inspection for the following years of account:

2020-21 2021-22

£000 £000

72 Fees payable with regard to external audit services carried out by the appointed auditor 147

70 Additional fees payable with regard to external audit services carried out by the 131
appointed auditor in the prior years

142 278

18. DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT

The Council’s expenditure on schools is funded primarily by grant monies provided by the Education and Skills Funding Agency, the Dedicated
Schools Grant (DSG). DSG is ring-fenced and can only be applied to meet expenditure properly included in the Schools Budget, as defined in
the School Finance and Early Years (England) Regulations 2020. The Schools Budget includes elements for a range of educational services
provided on an authority-wide basis and for the Individual Schools Budget (ISB), which is divided into a budget share for each maintained
school. The DSG (made under section 14 of the Education Act 2002) has been deployed in accordance with regulations made under sections
45A, 45AA, 47, 48(1) and (2) and 138(7) of, and paragraph 1(7)(b) of Schedule 14 to, the School Standards and Framework Act 1998.
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Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 2020-21 and 2021-22 are as follows:

2020-21 2021-22
Central Individual Total Central Individual Total
Expenditure Schools Expenditure Schools
Budget (ISB) Budget (ISB)
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
490,299 Final DSG before Academy recoupment 536,577
-263,588 Academy figure recouped -292,364
226,711 Total DSG after Academy Recoupment 244,213
-16,620 Brought forward from previous financial year 0
0 Correction of rounding difference occurring in 2019/20 1
0 Carry forward to next financial year agreed in advance 0
24,523 185,568 210,091 Agreed Initial Budgeted Distribution 47,005 197,208 244,214
-10 0 -10 In year adjustments -467 -3,742 -4,209
24,513 185,568 210,081 Final Budget Distribution 46,538 193,466 240,005
-53,863 0 -53,863 Less: actual central expenditure -60,501 0 -60,501
0 -182,581  -182,581 Less: actual ISB deployed to schools 0 -192,460 -192,460
0 0 0 Plus: local authority contribution 0 0 0
-29,350 2,987 -26,363 Carry Forward -13,963 1,006 -12,956
0 Plus/Minus: Carry-forward to next financial year agreed in advance 0
0 Carry-forward to next financial year 0
0 DSG unusable reserve at the end of previous financial year -26,363
-26,363 Addition to DSG unusable reserve -12,956
-26,363 Total of DSG unusable reserve at the end of 2021/22 -39,319
-26,363 Net DSG position at the end of 2021/22 -39,319
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The final DSG balance to carry forward to 2022-23 is a deficit of £39,319k, compared to the £26,363k deficit brought forward from 2020-21.
The increasing deficit is the result of continuing pressures within the High Needs Block of the DSG funding, due to overall numbers, complexity
of need and unit costs of funding educational provision for children and young people with additional needs. As noted in the Narrative Report
(page 20), an extensive Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Transformation programme has been developed, and alongside this
the Council has been selected to participate in the next round of the safety valve intervention programme.

DLUHC has made regulations regarding the accounting treatment of DSG deficits, which affect the financial years beginning on 1 April 2020, 1
April 2021 and 1 April 2022. These are the Local Authority (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2020, SI 2020
No 1212. Local Authorities must charge the amount of the deficit to an unusable reserve established, charged and used solely for the purpose
of recognising deficits in respect of its schools budget. The regulations cover a limited period, to provide time for Government and local
authorities to look at budgetary and financial management strategies to reduce the deficits.
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19. ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING BASIS AND FUNDING BASIS UNDER REGULATIONS

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure recognised by the Council in the year, in
accordance with proper accounting practice, to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Council to
meet future capital and revenue expenditure.

Movements in balances in 2021-22:

= 2
— v _ Lo _ = GE" a9
- b4 c &2 oY S 2>
ST § £3gEte® 35g
2021-22 s S5w S 988 8CE 2°2¢
VEim U UUD 2 £«
£000 £000 £000 £000
Adjustments Involving the Capital Adjustment Account
Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:
Charges for depreciation and impairment of non current assets 49,150 0 0 -49,150
Revaluation losses on Property Plant and Equipment -2,721 0 0 2,721
Movements in the fair value of Investment Properties -212 0 0 212
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,500 0 0 -2,500
Capital grant and contributions applied -81,677 0 0 81,677
Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute 2,297 0 0 -2,297
Non current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive 15,629 0 0 -15,629
Income and Expenditure Statement
Insertion of items not debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:
Statutory Provision for the Repayment of debt - Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) -25,332 0 0 25,332
Capital expenditure charged against the general fund balance -6,907 0 0 6,907
Other Adjustments
Adjustments involving the Capital Grants Unapplied Account:
Capital grants and contributions unapplied credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement -9,228 0 9,228 0
Application of grants to capital financing transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account 0 0 -13,163 13,163
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2021-22

Adjustments involving the Capital Receipts Reserve:

Capital Receipts received in year but not applied

Capital Receipts used to fund capital expenditure

Flexible use of capital receipts

Capital Receipts used to fund revenue (Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute)
Adjustments involving the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve:

Finance lease deferred capital receipt adjustment

Adjustments involving the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account:

Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are different
from finance costs chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements

Adjustments involving the Pensions Reserve:

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement

Employer's pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year
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Adjustments involving the Collection Fund Adjustment Account:
Amount by which council tax income credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is -9,616 0 0 9,616
different from council tax income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory requirements
Adjustment involving the Dedicated Schools Grant Adjustment Account:
Amount of which the accumulated Dedicated Schools Grant deficit charged to the Comprehensive Income and 12,957 0 0 -12,957
Expenditure Statement is different from that chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements
Adjustment involving the Accumulated Absences Account:
Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an 710 0 0 -710
accruals basis is different from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements
4,435 2,996 -3,935 -3,496

Total Adjustments
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Movements in balances in 2020-21:

2020-21

Adjustments Involving the Capital Adjustment Account

Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:
Charges for depreciation and impairment of non current assets

Revaluation losses on Property Plant and Equipment

Movements in the fair value of Investment Properties

Amortisation of intangible assets

Capital grant and contributions applied

Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute

Non current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement

Insertion of items not debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:
Statutory Provision for the Repayment of debt - Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)

Capital Expenditure charged against the General Fund

Other Adjustments

Adjustments involving the Capital Grants Unapplied Account:

Capital grants and contributions unapplied credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Application of grants to capital financing transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account

General

o) il
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£000 £000 £000
48,150 0 0
10,689 0 0
8,550 0 0
2,960 0 0
-72,418 0 0
8,039 0 0
24,874 0 0

-21,299

-1,660 0 0
-13,570 0 13,570
0 0 -12,861
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2020-21

Adjustments involving the Capital Receipts Reserve:

Capital Receipts received in year but not applied

Capital Receipts used to fund capital expenditure

Flexible use of capital receipts

Adjustments involving the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve:

Capital Receipts achieved in year but not received

Adjustments involving the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account:

Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are different
from finance costs chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements

Adjustments involving the Pensions Reserve:

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement

Employer's pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year

T €
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£000 £000 £000
-2,661 2,661 0
37 -1,900 0
1,532 -1,532 0
0 0 0
-47 0 0
61,263 0 0
-33,274 0 0
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Adjustments involving the Collection Fund Adjustment Account:
Amount by which council tax income credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is 10,217 0 0 -10,217
different from council tax income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory requirements
Adjustment involving the Dedicated Schools Grant Adjustment Account:
Amount of which the accumulated Dedicated Schools Grant deficit charged to the Comprehensive Income and 9,742 0 0 -9,742
Expenditure Statement is different from that chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements
Adjustment involving the Accumulated Absences Account:
Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an -2,404 0 0 2,404
accruals basis is different from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements
38,720 -771 709 -38,658

Total Adjustments
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20. TRANSFERS TO / FROM EARMARKED RESERVES

The Council’s Earmarked Reserve balances including an analysis of respective in-year movements are as follows:

Transfers Transfers Transfers

Balance at DSG deficit Transfers Out In Balance at Out In Balance at

31-Mar-20 transfer 2020-21 2020-21 31-Mar-21 2021-22 2021-22 31-Mar-22

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Carry forward - schools 0 13,472 -2,042 5,597 17,027 -2,793 2,551 16,785

Carry forward - other 6,082 0 -6,341 20,646 20,387 -20,409 14,754 14,732

Insurance reserve 4,165 0 -1,628 2,294 4,831 -2,743 2,630 4,718

Transformation reserve 25,436 0 -2,697 8,758 31,497 -6,770 1,429 26,156
Other earmarked

reserves 44,407 3,148 -12,736 33,629 68,448 -7,614 30,838 91,672

Total 80,090 16,620 -25,444 70,924 142,190 -40,329 52,202 154,063

The schools reserve listed above traditionally consists mainly of revenue balances held by individual maintained schools as part of their overall
delegated funding. This funding remains in individual school bank accounts, but is consolidated into the overall accounts for reporting
purposes. The reserve also contains other small elements of school funding in relation to Pupil Premium, Universal Infant Free Schools Funding
and the pooled absence scheme for primary schools. These balances are subject to conditions of grant or local schemes and as such will be
allocated in agreement with these arrangements during 2022-23. The accumulated high needs deficit that is ringfenced as part of the
Dedicated Schools Grant is no longer accumulated into Earmarked Reserves and has been transferred to Unusable Reserves (see Note 22).

21. USABLE RESERVES

Usable reserves are those reserves that contain resources that a Council can apply to the provision of services, either by incurring expenses or
undertaking capital investment; whether or not there are particular restrictions on exactly what the resources can be applied to. Please refer
to Notes 19 and 20 for details of the movements in usable reserves.
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The Council’s usable reserves are as follows:

B General Fund — the main revenue fund of the Council. Council tax precepts and Government grants are paid into the fund, from which the
cost of providing services is met. The General Fund cushions the impact of uneven cash flows and also acts as a contingency that can be
used in year in the event of unexpected emergencies or unforeseen spending;

B Earmarked Reserves — these are resources set aside for a specific purpose. The Council’s earmarked reserves include balances to cover
future pressures, insurance claims and general contingencies held by schools within advisory limits. This includes a Transformation reserve
which has been set up to finance projects that will reduce the Council’s operating costs. Further analysis of earmarked reserves is shown
within Note 20;

B Usable Capital Receipts Reserve — this reserve comprises all income from capital receipts that has been credited to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain / loss on disposal of long-term assets. Income is credited to the Capital Receipts
Reserve, via a debit to the General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. This reserve may only be used to fund capital
expenditure or repay debt;

B Capital Grants and Contributions Unapplied Reserve — this reserve includes all capital grant income credited to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement, and subsequently reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
It is designed to show the position when a capital grant has been received, and conditions of its award met, but is yet to be used to finance
capital expenditure. Amounts in this reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital
expenditure.

Movements in the Council’s usable reserves are also detailed in the Movement in Reserves Statement (page 43).
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22. UNUSABLE RESERVES

A summary of the Council’s unusable reserves is as follows:

31-Mar-21
£000
310,658 Revaluation Reserve
556,497 Capital Adjustment Account
-1,042  Financial Instruments Adjustment Account
-1,063 Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve
-700,671 Pensions Reserve
-11,963 Collection Fund Adjustment Account
-5,371 Accumulated Absences Account
-26,362 Dedicated Schools Grant Adjustment Account
21,588 Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve

142,271

Revaluation Reserve

31-Mar-22
£000
325,036
621,065
-996
1,025
-552,846
-2,347
-6,081
-39,319
21,587

367,123

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Council arising from increases in the value of its Property, Plant and Equipment (and
Intangible Assets). The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are:

B revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost;

B used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation;

B ordisposed of and the gains are realised.

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the Reserve was created. Accumulated gains arising
before that date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account.
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2020-21
£000
322,650

31,940
-39,321

315,269

-2,641
-1,970
-4,611

310,658

Balance at 1 April
Upward revaluation of assets

Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not charged to the
surplus or deficit on the Provision of Services

Surplus or Deficit on Revaluation of Long Term Assets not Posted to
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost depreciation
Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped
Amount Written Off to the Capital Adjustment Account

Balance at 31 March

Capital Adjustment Account
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of
non-current assets (such as buildings and roads) and for financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under
statutory provisions. The account is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement, via charges for depreciation,
impairment losses and amortisations which are initially debited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. These are then
transferred in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account. Reconciling postings
from the Revaluation Reserve converts the fair value figures to a historical cost basis. The account is also credited with the amounts set aside

by the Council to finance the costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement.

2021-22
£000
310,658
36,591

-17,918

329,331

-3,412
-883
-4,295

325,036

The Account also contains revaluation gains and losses accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the
Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. Note 19 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the Account, apart
from those involving the Revaluation Reserve.
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2020-21
£000
545,047

-48,150
-10,689
-2,960

-8,039
-24,874

4,611

-90,101

1,863
72,418

12,861
21,299

1,660
-8,550

556,497

Balance at 1st April

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement

Charges for depreciation or impairment of long-term assets

Revaluation gains reversing previous losses on Property, Plant and Equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute

Amounts of long-term assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the loss on disposal to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve

Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets consumed in the year
Capital financing applied in the year

Use of the capital receipts reserve to finance new capital expenditure

Capital Grants and contributions credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure statement
that have been applied to capital financing

Application of grant to capital financing from the capital grants unapplied account
Statutory Provision for the financing of capital investments charged to the general fund
Capital expenditure charged against the general fund

Movements in the market value of investment properties debited or credited to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement

Balance at 31 March

2021-22
£000
556,497

-49,150
2,721
-2,500

-2,297
-15,629

4,295

-62,560

-166
81,677

13,163
25,335

6,907
212

621,065
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Pensions Reserve

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and
for funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions. The Council accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect
inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements
require benefits earned to be financed as the Council makes employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for
which it is directly responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by
past and current employees and the resources the Council has set aside to meet them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding
will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid.

2020-21 2021-22
£000 £000
-491,615 Balance at 1st April -700,671
-181,067 Re-measurement of net pension liability 207,587
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the deficit on the
-61,263 provision of services in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement -93,754
33,274 Employer's pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year 33,992
-700,671 Balance at 31st March -552,846

Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve
The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the gains recognised on the disposal of non-current assets but for which cash settlement has yet

to take place. Under statutory arrangements, the Council does not treat these gains as usable for financing new capital expenditure until they
are backed by cash receipts. When the deferred cash settlement eventually takes place, amounts are transferred to the Capital Receipts

Reserve.
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2020-21 2021-22
£000 £000
21,589 Balance at 1 April 21,588
1 Transfer of deferred sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss on -1
disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
21,588 Balance at 31 March 21,587

Dedicated Schools Grant Adjustment Account

The Dedicated Schools Grant adjustment account holds accumulated deficits relating to the schools budget. Where the authority has incurred
a deficit on its schools budget in years beginning 1 April 2020, 1 April 2021 or 1 April 2022, the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and
Accounting) Regulations do not allow for such amounts to be included in the General Fund and instead must be held in this adjustment
account. As set out above in Note 18 (Dedicated Schools Grant), the carried forward deficit in this area has increased to £39.3m by 31 March
2022, an increase of £12.9m from 31 March 2021.

2020-21 2021-22

£000 £000

0 Balance at 1 April -26,362

-16,620  2020-21 Statutory opening balance adjustment for DSG 0

deficit (transfer from usable reserves)

9,742 school budget deficit transferred from General Fund in -12,956
accordance with statutory requirements

-26,362 Balance at 31 March -39,318

88



AAA

Cambridgeshire

Balance Sheet Supporting Notes County Council
23. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements in balances in 2021-22:
Vehicles, Infrastructure
Plant, Assets * Assets Total Plant, PFI Assets
Land and Furniture & See separate Community Surplus Under Property & included
Buildings Equipment NBV disclosure Assets Assets Construction Equipment in PPE
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost or Valuation
At 1st April 2021 698,382 31,573 2,744 3,652 47,774 784,125 117,777
Additions 6,588 8,985 0 0 43,198 58,771
Donations 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation increases/decreases (-) 15,164 0 -20 -2,294 0 12,850
recognised in the Revaluation
Reserve
Revaluation increases/decreases (-) 632 0 0 ~241 0 Sl 0
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit
on the Provision of Services
De-recognition and Disposals -14,842 -4l -14,883
Assets reclassified to (-)/from Held -187 0 392 0 205 0
for Sale
Assets reclassified to (-)/from PPE 7,584 0 2,6% -10,281 -1 0
Assets reclassified to (-)/from -2,400 0 56 0 -2,344 0
Investment Properties
Assets reclassified to (-)/from 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Intangible Assets
Other Movements in Cost or 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Valuation
At 31st March 2022 710,921 40,558 2,724 4,220 80,691 839,114 117,777
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Vebhicles, Infrastructure
Plant, Assets * Assets Total Plant, PFI Assets
Land and  Furniture & See separate  Community Surplus Under Property & included in
Buildings Equipment NBYV disclosure Assets  Assets Construction Equipment PPE
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Accumulated Depreciation and
Impairment
At 1st April 2021 -32,506 -31,538 0 -3 -28,602 -92,649 -64,135
Depreciation Charge -9,362 -22 0 -18 0 -9,394 -3,165
Depreciation written out of the 5,805 0 21 0 5,826 0
Revaluation Reserve
Depreciation written out to the 2326 0 0 4 0 A0 0
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of
Services
Impairment losses/reversals (-) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
recognised in the surplus/deficit in the
Revaluation Reserve
. 0 -8,985 0 0 -7,010 -15,995 0
Impairment losses/reversals (-)
recognised in the surplus/deficit on
the provision of services
Assets reclassified to (-)/from Held for 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sale
Assets reclassified to (-)/from PPE 0 0 0 0
Assets reclassified to (-)/from 0 0 0 0
Investment Properties
De-recognition and Disposals 55 0 0 0 25
Other Movements in Cost or Valuation > B 0
At 31st March 2022 -33,677 -40,545 0 -1 -35,612 -109,827 -67,300
At 31st March 2022 677,244 13 2,724 4,219 45,079 729,287 50,477
At 31st March 2021 665,876 35 2,744 3,649 19,172 691,476 53,642
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Movements in balances in 2020-21:
Vehicles, Infrastructure
Plant, Assets * Assets Total Plant, PFI Assets
Land and Furniture & See separate  Community Surplus Under Property & included
Buildings Equipment NBYV disclosure Assets  Assets Construction Equipment in PPE
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost or Valuation
At 1st April 2020 742,763 23,947 635 2,803 38,713 808,861 117,777
Additions 5,383 7,626 0 0 14,077 27,086 0
Donations 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation increases/decreases (- -16,596 0 2,109 190 0 -14,297 0
) recognised in the Revaluation
Reserve
Revaluation increases/decreases (- -13,242 0 0 38 0 s 0
) recognised in the Surplus/Deficit
on the Provision of Services
De-recognition and Disposals -24,942 0 0 -32 0 -24,974 0
Assets reclassified to (-)/from Held 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
for Sale
Assets reclassified to (-)/from PPE 5,016 0 0 0 -5,016 0 0
Assets reclassified to (-)/from 0 0 0 653 0 653 0
Investment Properties
Assets reclassified to (-)/from 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Intangible Assets
Other Movements in Cost or 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Valuation
At 31st March 2021 698,382 31,573 2,744 3,652 47,774 784,125 117,777
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Vehicles, Infrastructure
Plant, Assets * Assets Total Plant, PFI Assets
Land and Furniture & See separate Community Surplus Under Property & included in
Buildings Equipment NBYV disclosure Assets  Assets Construction Equipment PPE
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Accumulated Depreciation and
Impairment
At 1st April 2020 -33,039 -23,890 0 -3 -24,822 -81,754 -60,971
Depreciation Charge -9,004 -22 0 -6 0 -9,032 -3,164
Depreciation written out of the 6,923 0 0 5 0 6,928 0
Revaluation Reserve
Depreciation written out to the 2515 0 0 0 0 250 0
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of
Services
Impairment losses/reversals (-) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
recognised in the surplus/deficit in
the Revaluation Reserve
. 0 -7,626 0 0 -3,780 -11,406 0
Impairment losses/reversals (-)
recognised in the surplus/deficit on
the provision of services
Assets reclassified to (-)/from Held
for Sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Assets reclassified to (-)/from PPE 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Assets reclassified to (-)/from 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Investment Properties
De-recognition and Disposals 99 0 0 1 0 100 0
Other Movements in Cost or
Valuation 0 0 0 0 0 0
At 31st March 2021 -32,506 -31,538 0 -3 -28,602 -92,649 -64,135
At 31st March 2021 665,876 35 2,744 3,649 19,172 691,476 53,642
At 31st March 2020 709,724 57 635 2,800 13,891 727,107 56,806
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Infrastructure Assets Net Book Value Disclosure: Reconciliation to Balance Sheet:
2020-21 Infrastructure Assets 2021-22 2020-21 Reconciliation: Total Plant, 2021-22
£'000 £'000 £'000 Property & Equipment £000
864,217 Net Book Value at 1st April 911,359 911,359 Infrastructure Assets 958,699
74,853 Additions 71,091 691,476 Other PPE Assets 729,287
0 De-recognition and Disposals 0 1,602,835 Total PPE Assets at 31st March 1,687,986
-27,711 Depreciation Charge -23,751 1,602,835 Value of PPE in Balance Sheet 1,687,986
911,359 Net Book Value at 31st March 958,699

Infrastructure Assets

As set out in this note, Infrastructure Assets have a net book value of £958.7m. In accordance with the temporary relief offered by the Update
to the Code on infrastructure assets this note does not include disclosure of gross cost and accumulated depreciation for infrastructure assets
because historical reporting practices and resultant information deficits mean that this would not faithfully represent the asset position to the
users of the financial statements.

The authority has chosen not to disclose this information as the previously reported practices and resultant information deficits for the years
2010-11 and 2013-14 mean that gross cost and accumulated depreciation are not measured accurately and would not provide the basis for the
users of the financial statements to take economic or other decisions relating to infrastructure assets.

The authority has determined in accordance with Regulation 30M of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England/Wales)
(Amendment) Regulations 2022 that the carrying amounts to be derecognised for infrastructure assets when there is replacement expenditure
is nil.

Capital commitments

At 31 March 2022 the Council has entered into a number of new significant contracts for the construction or enhancement of Property, Plant
and Equipment in 2022-23 and future years, budgeted to cost £575.8m. The figures included within the table below represent the remaining
contract value.

Contracts with major commitments are:
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Expenditure approved and contracted

Schools
WING Development - Cambridge

Temporary Accommodation

Highways

Highways Contract

Chisholm Trail and Abbey-Chesterton Bridge
Greater Cambridge Partnership schemes
Wisbech Town Centre Access Study

Property
Building Maintenance

Energy
Energy Projects

IT
EastNet (CPSN Replacement)

Connecting Cambridgeshire
Total

Capitalisation of Borrowing Costs

In accordance with the Council’s accounting policy, the Council capitalised £1,127k of borrowing costs in year in relation to qualifying assets

New construction
Mobile buildings

To cover structural work, surfacing, road works and capital schemes for highways
Creation of a walking and cycle route including a new bridge

Various schemes

Design and Delivery of multiple highways schemes in the vicinity of Wisbech

Building, Mechanical and Electrical Services

To cover solar farm, landfill energy and smart energy grid projects along with any
other design and build capital energy projects

Key network connectivity

Superfast broadband rollout

31-Mar-22
£000

3.274
3,086

473,965
8,443
4,920
2,768

12,000

28,220

5428
10,324

552,428

(£1,232k in 2020-21). This was calculated using the Council’s average borrowing rate of between 2.2% and 2.4% for the 4 quarters of 2021-22.

94



Cambridgeshire

VA |
Balance Sheet Supporting Notes VWA County Counci

Revaluations

The Council carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all Property, Plant and Equipment required to be measured at current value is
revalued at least every five years. In order to ensure that carrying values are kept in line with current values in the interim, all assets are
revalued via desktop valuation in year two and by indexation in years three to five. For 2021-22, the valuations were carried out externally by
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) registered valuers, Bruton Knowles LLP. Valuations of land and buildings were carried out in
accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the RICS Valuation. The effective date of revaluation for the rolling
programme, desktop valuations and all Surplus assets is 30 November 2021.

The significant assumptions applied in estimating current values are:

B Building values based on building indices (Building Cost Information Service (BCIS)); and

B Land values based on existing use (for example, if offices are based on the land then the land is valued for office use, if buildings on the
land have industrial use then the land is valued based on employment land value).

Valuation of long-term assets

Carried at Valued at Current Value as at:
Historical Cost  2017-18 ~ 2018-19  2019-20  2020-21  2021-22  Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Land and Buildings 58,318 8,163 169,413 260,274 214,753 710,921
Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and

Equipment 40,558 0 0 0 0 0 40,558

Community Assets 0 620 0 0 2,104 0 2,724

Sur